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Message from the Australian Sports Commission  

(ASC—funded, non—Winning Edge sports) 

 
The past year has seen has seen considerable success and progress for Australian sport, as the Australian Sports Commission (ASC) 

and national sporting organisations (NSOs) continue to build on our nation’s proud sporting tradition. 

The Government’s 2014–15 investment of nearly $120 million into Australian sport continues to be refined to ensure funding is 

aligned to sports with the greatest potential to contribute to Australia’s Winning Edge 2012–2022 targets, and drive greater 

participation outcomes for sport. 

The sporting landscape has changed rapidly in recent years, as have the options for people’s scarce leisure time. More than ever 

before, sport faces tough competition for our attention from electronic media and other sedentary pursuits. 

In March the Commission launched Play.Sport.Australia. — our plan to help NSOs build participation in sport and make sure all 

Australians enjoy its benefits. Sports have the opportunity to attract more than 4.5 million Australians into their communities. It’s 

important that we work together to ensure that more Australians, particularly young Australians, participate in sport more often 

and that we have strong sporting organisations that deliver the products and opportunities Australians want.  

Other highlights in 2014–15 included: 

 The transition to Sporting Schools and the development of its website — the main portal for sporting organisations, 

schools, coaches and parents to access this $100 million program which aims to reach more than 850,000 children. 

 The development of the AusPlay survey — The ASC has committed to introducing a new national survey to better 

understand how Australians engage with, and play, sport. Good decisions require good data and this initiative by the ASC is 

critical. 

And through Australia’s Winning Edge we will continue to give our athletes the best chances at international success. 

So now, more than ever, we have a clear plan to make sure all Australians enjoy sport and maximise our chances of success. On 

behalf of the ASC I thank you for your hard work in helping us achieve these goals and I look forward to working with you in to the 

future. 

 

 

John Wylie AM 

Chair 

Australian Sports Commission  
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Our Partners in Sport 
Principal Partners 

 

The Australian Sports Commission and the Australian Institute of Sport are our principal funding partners, providing high 

performance and sport development resources for Australian Canoeing. We wish to recognise the ASC and the AIS High 

Performance Program for their continuing investment in the sport of canoe/kayak. 

Program Partners  

  

Australian Canoeing relies heavily on its Olympic profile to create participation and development opportunities. The ongoing 

funding and support of the Australian Olympic Committee and the Australian Paralympic Committee is vital.  

 
 

 

 
 

    

Our relationships with the national sport academy and sport institute network are the foundation for providing elite paddling 

opportunities to talented athletes Australia-wide. The support of state and local government can never be underestimated.  

Official Sponsors 

 

Paddle Pals 

Australian Canoeing is proud to attract the support of industry partners through our ‘Paddle Pals’ scheme, suppliers and businesses 

who are focused on sport, paddling sport and the health and wellbeing of our members. 

http://canoe.org.au/membership/paddlepals-member-benefits/  

http://canoe.org.au/membership/paddlepals-member-benefits/
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Our Year in Focus 
President’s Report 
 

In November 2014, the members of Australian Canoeing (AC) 

unanimously voted to move AC from being an incorporated 

entity to a company limited by guarantee.  This move, whilst in 

line with the Australian Sports Commission (ASC) Governing 

Principles, has also been an ambition of the Board since 

Canoeing was reviewed by Kidston in 2006.  On 9 July 2015, 

Australian Canoeing Inc. became Australian Canoeing Ltd. and 

whilst the change in name is unremarkable the change in 

responsibility and accountability for the Board and 

management is significant.  

 

At our strategic forum in 2014 our members worked on the 

new rolling Strategic Plan, which commenced in 2015. The 

purpose of the rolling plan is to review it on an annual basis 

ensuring that the plan remains relevant to the sport’s overall 

vision and set at a level that is achievable and considers the 

ever-changing environment of resourcing and capability. AC 

has progressed well in two of the four pillars, being the areas 

of participation and performance, however we have remained 

relatively stagnant in the areas of people and places. This will 

be looked at in detail at our 2015 forum. 

The key drivers in remodeling our plan were based on the ASC 

Governance Principles, which detailed a prioritisation model 

that looked at building a solid base commencing with Purpose. 

This is illustrated in figure 1 below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

It is important that this model is stepped through 

systematically, building on each phase. I am pleased to say that 

AC is moving on to the Research and Evidence phase now that 

we have established our purpose through our strategic plan, 

good Governance, Culture and Leadership. 

In moving through these blocks a number of key areas were 

identified as pivotal to our future success, specifically: 

 Seamless change of leadership for AC; 

 Seamless rollover of skilled Board members;  

 Research to expand our appeal to the broader 

paddling community; 

 Branding and a national symbol that represents our 

sport; and 

 Innovative thinking and strategies to move towards a 

more exciting and independent organisation. 

 

Under our new constitution my role as Chair and President of 

AC will conclude at our AGM 2016. I am very pleased to say that 

with the Board’s strategy on succession planning already 

underway and the proposed inclusion of a Vice Chair for AC, the 

change in leadership will be informed, prepared and seamless.  

 

  

Figure 1: ASC Governance Principles Model 
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Next year, we will also lose Martyn Clancy-Lowe from the Board 

under the same rules.  Martyn was elected in April 2007 along 

with myself and whilst we will miss our roles it is time to allow 

others to take up the leadership of the Board.  The Board will 

be looking for new members next year and I encourage you to 

nominate those people that you believe have the skill set and 

potential to add value to our Board. 

Over the past year the Board has welcomed two new members 

with the appointment of Ian Hume as an Independent Director 

and Anita Taylor as an Appointed Director under the new 

constitution. Their appointments have expanded the skill set of 

the Board and both have made valuable contributions to AC 

and to the Board. 

From a Culture perspective, AC has enjoyed the support of its 

member States on all of our proposed changes and 

improvements over the past seven years.  This is not lost on the 

Board. 

Our challenge over the next twelve months will be to move to 

a more exciting and relevant brand that will appeal to the 

broader paddling community. This discussion began at our last 

forum where our State members and the Board unanimously 

supported a change in name to include the term “Paddle” 

rather than “Canoe”. This change in direction will better 

capture our traditional members and expand our appeal and 

opportunities for the broader paddling community. 

Our member States have also been supportive of the concept 

of a unified brand that would give each State a unique look 

whilst aligning with AC to increase our appeal, reach and 

potential commercial opportunities. A lot of work has been 

undertaken in this area and I believe that we are close to having 

a new look and brand for AC.   

The next twelve months will see continued governance work 

on all policies and bylaws to bring them in line with the new 

constitution and on the constitution itself where gaps or 

anomalies are identified and improvements can be made.    

From a performance perspective our Paracanoe discipline now 

boasts three World Champions with Susan Seipel, Amanda 

Reynolds and Curtis McGrath all winning World Crowns in 

Milan. This is a great lead-in towards Rio 2016. 

This year also saw the best performance to date from our men’s 

sprint paddlers qualifying the largest number of quota 

positions at a World Championships for the Olympic Games.  

Kenny Wallace, Chair of our Athletes’ Commission, excelled in 

retaining his World Crown in the 5000m for the third 

consecutive year and with Lachie Tame taking the World Crown 

in the K2 500m. With solid performances in the K1, K2 and K4 

1000m our men’s sprint team is on track for Rio 2016. 

Jess Fox and Lucien Delfour had a great season in slalom with 

Jess retaining her C1 World Crown and qualifying the WK1 

quota place for 2016.  

Some outstanding performances were seen from our Ocean 

Racing Teams who have taken out a monopoly at the Worlds 

with our male athletes winning every category from the Under 

23s, six out of the seven total age categories as well as the Open 

category at the Worlds in Tahiti. Our women were also in the 

top five for the Open category and either first or second in four 

of the age categories. 

AC can proudly boast sixteen World Champions across four 

disciplines of the sport.  This is an outstanding effort.  

From a volunteer perspective I would like to acknowledge our 

former President and life member of AC, Helen Brownlee OAM 

who has been awarded one of the highest honours that can be 

bestowed upon a person in Australian Sport and that is to be 

inducted as a general member into The Sport Australia Hall of 

Fame.  Helen has been recognised for her involvement with 

sport over a span of fifty years as an athlete and as a volunteer 

administrator, official, judge and champion of the Olympic 

Movement.  She will join fellow canoeist and five time 

Olympian Clint Robinson as a member of the Hall of Fame.  In 

May this year Helen was also awarded the Olympic Order by 

the President of the IOC Thomas Bach for her contribution to 

World Sport and upholding the Olympic ideals. Helen’s 

contribution to canoeing, sport and the Oceania region is 

unparalleled and these acknowledgements are well deserved.  

In closing, I would like to thank the management of AC and the 

Board for their continued work in building the sport both in a 

performance capacity and as a sport for all. This year has had 

an enormous workload for both with the full integration of the 

high performance team and finances, a new constitution, new 

company and the underpinning governance that comes with 

change, all whilst progressing the sport in line with the strategic 

plan.  I am proud to say that we remain one of the foundation 

sports in the country and have a reputation that is building 

towards being one of the model sports in the country. 

Danielle Woodward OAM 

President and Chair  

Australian Canoeing Ltd. 
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Chief Executive’s Report 

It gives me great pleasure to provide to you my Chief Executive 

Officer’s report for 2014/2015. The year in review has seen 

many developments and significant achievements that have 

provided the foundation for the organisation’s sustained 

growth and continued high profile on both the national and 

world stages. 

 

Australian Canoeing Ltd. (AC) continues to improve its 

organisational capability demonstrating financial strength and 

an effective business strategy. The trading outcome for the 

year shows a surplus of $43,951 (2014: $19,410), which is a 

solid financial result. The net assets of the organisation grew to 

$305K (2014: $260K). Having started with AC when the 

organisation had negative net assets (-$111K) and a turnover 

of $1.1M, it is very pleasing to see the organisation rebuild its 

current financial position to a turnover of $7.2M (2014: $7.1M) 

with an anticipated turnover in 2016 of $7.5M.  

 

This significant increase in turnover is largely a result of funding 

provided by the Australian Sports Commission (ASC) through 

Australia’s Winning Edge – High Performance Strategy (AWE) 

representing in excess of $5M. The year in review saw for the 

first time in almost a decade, all ASC/AIS funding coming 

directly to AC and being managed and reported upon through 

a consolidated ‘whole of sport’ budget. This is a significant and 

historical milestone for AC and demonstrates the confidence 

and belief that the ASC and AIS have in AC delivering high 

performance ‘world best’ outcomes as well as being an 

organisation that implements modern governance principles 

and displays strong financial management and transparent 

reporting. 

It is the intent of AC to keep building the net financial position 

of the organisation until the financial base is large enough to 

be able to withstand adverse budget variances, which will help 

maintain the organisation’s financial stability. The long-term 

aspiration is to build the net assets of the organisation to 

around 10% of the organisation’s annual turnover. 

At the 2014 AGM (25 October), State Member Associations 

(MA’s) voted to migrate AC from an incorporated entity to a 

company limited by guarantee with an associated new 

Constitution. As a result, AC was registered as a company under 

the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) effective on the 9 July, 2015. 

The company migration and new Constitution ensured 

compliance with the ASC Mandatory Sports Governance 

Principles (Principles). These Principles are based on best 

practice of Australian corporate governance with an AC self-

assessed status report against the Principles to be found in 

Annexure B of the Annual Report.  

 

 

Of particular note is the establishment of an Audit & Risk (A&R) 

Committee, which follows the formation of a Nominations 

Committee the previous year. The A&R Committee assists the 

Board in fulfilling its corporate governance and oversight 

responsibilities relating to financial accounting practices, 

internal control systems, risks, external reporting and the 

external and internal audit function. Both Committees report 

to the Board and provide appropriate advice and 

recommendations to facilitate decision-making by the Board. 

At the 2014 Strategic Forum (25-26 October), the merits of 

having a nationally unified brand (name and associated logo) 

for the sport were discussed. The Forum reached a consensus 

that AC is now in a position to look at rebranding the sport and 

unifying the brand with all State MA’s. As a result, AC has 

engaged the services of a design company and Trademark 

Attorney to progress the rebranding. We are currently in the 

process of conducting State MA roadshows to discuss the 

rationale and benefits of rebranding. Further details will be 

discussed at the 2015 AGM. 

State MA’s have continued to support the operations of AC 

through the payment of affiliation fees. A ‘weighted matrix’ 

that comprises strategic descriptors and associated weightings 

determines State MA affiliation fees. The payment of such fees 

in a timely and co-operative manner has not gone unnoticed 

and is greatly appreciated with this level of support 

contributing to the current financial stability of AC.  

AC completed a governance research program in conjunction 

with the ASC and Dr. Denis Mowbray (Gryphon Management 

Consultants). The research examined “The link between Boards 

of Directors and Organisational Performance” and involved 

surveys and interviews with the Board, senior management 

and key stakeholders. Dr. Mowbray also attended several face-

to-face Board meetings to observe the behaviour, interactions 

and dynamics of the Board. The AC Behavioural Governance 

Review (Executive Summary) which outlines the findings and 

associated recommendations of the research can be found on 

our website. The Board accepted the findings and adopted all 

recommendations contained within the Executive Summary 

and developed a strategy and associated timelines for the 

implementation of the recommendations. The Board and 

senior management team found the research both insightful 

and beneficial.  

The year in review saw AC develop a ‘2015-2017 Strategic Plan’ 

that was finalised at the 2014 AGM weekend. It is a three-year 

rolling plan that will be reviewed annually. The Plan has a 

‘Vision’ to be ‘Australia’s favourite water sport’ with a 

‘Purpose’ of ‘connecting with all Australians through paddle 
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sports, recreation and performance’. There are four (4) inter-

related ‘P’ pillars comprising Participation (‘engage and grow 

our base’), Performance (‘excel at every level’), People (‘lead 

and guide our sport’) and Places (‘ensure access and quality’). 

The Plan identifies ‘Enablers’ that will drive success. These 

enablers are ‘good governance’, ‘sound financial 

management’, ‘commercialisation’, ‘effective marketing and 

communications’, ‘technology’, ‘to project’ and ‘international 

relations’. Furthermore, we have identified key ‘Values’ and a 

‘Culture’ that are required to underpin our daily operations. 

They are ‘trust and belief’, ‘winning teamwork and unity of 

purpose’ and ‘diversity and inclusiveness’. As a result of a 

successful capability funding submission to the ASC, AC secured 

$100K to conduct market research. The findings of this will help 

determine any amendments to the Plan for the period 2016-

2018. 

AC secured YAK as a sponsor of the Australian Canoeing Award 

Scheme (ACAS). YAK is part of the Survitec Group (world’s 

largest PFD manufacturer) and they are a new 

brand/manufacturer in Australia, marketing ‘new age’ 

performance kayak safety products, apparel and accessories. 

Their product market is white-water, touring and recreational 

paddlers.  

Our partnership with Team Navy grew with the establishment 

of a Memorandum of Understanding. In February 2015, an 

official launch was held at the Sydney V8 Superfest with Jessica 

Fox and Chaz Mozart. The partnership provides event support, 

corporate connections with Team Navy partners and the 

opportunity to leverage Team Navy’s brand to build AC public 

awareness and profile.  

‘PaddlePals’ is our membership benefit program that provides 

registered members with a range of discounts and offers from 

participating partners for their products and services. The 

program continued to generate interest with a varied selection 

of partners offering a broad range of products and services as 

follows: 

- Travel (Choice Hotels & Flight Centre Group Travel); 

- Boats & Equipment (Performance Canoes & Kayaks, Epic 

Kayaks, Think Kayaks, Mirage Sea Kayaks, Bennett Paddles, 

Floating Assets, Sydney Harbour Kayaks, Roof Rack City South 

Australia); 

- Apparel (CW-X Conditioning Wear, Catfish Designs, Summit 

Gear, Smitten Merino); 

- Experiences (Experience Oz, Jervis Bay Kayak Company); 

- Magazines (Cumec Magazine); 

- Health & Nutrition (Bupa Health Insurance, Megaburn, USANA 

Health Sciences); 

- Other (Gift it Now). 

Due to all tenants having to vacate Sports House (6A Figtree 

Drive, Sydney Olympic Park) in late March 2015, AC relocated 

its offices to the New South Wales Institute of Sport (level 2, 6B 

Figtree Drive, Sydney Olympic Park). In addition, AC retained an 

office space at the relocated Sports House (8 Parkview Drive, 

Sydney Olympic Park). The benefits of the New South Wales 

Institute of Sport accommodation are firstly, that it provides AC 

with greater autonomy and privacy with a dedicated office 

space as opposed to open work stations shared with other 

sporting organisations; and secondly, it is more appropriate for 

an NSO particularly in relation to current AC rebranding and 

future commercialisation considerations; and thirdly, it 

provided the ability for joint tenancy of ‘Corporate’ and ‘High 

Performance’ staff. 

2014-2015 was a major year for Information and 

Communication Technology (ICT). After nine years of 

partnership with BellevueIT (BVIT), their sale to another 

company meant we had to review the merits and options of 

entering into an agreement with the organisation that bought 

BVIT. After careful consideration, we believed the product did 

not meet our current and future needs. The decision was made 

to contract SportingDNA (SDNA) as the membership system 

provider and WordPress as the website platform.  

There were numerous challenges with the transition of 110 

member (Club, State & National) websites to an open-source 

WordPress platform; the commissioning and development of a 

new membership platform built by SDNA; and moving 25,000 

member records from BVIT to the new SDNA system. Sam 

Lyons (ICT Coordinator) and the management team worked 

tirelessly with SDNA, State MA’s and Clubs to address the issues 

as they occurred. I’m pleased to report that there has been a 

huge amount of progress and system development as well as a 

commensurate level of member support and communication.  

AC has provided training to State MA’s and Clubs, an IT Working 

Group was established with a supporting email ‘help desk’ 

address (helpdesk@canoe.org.au) to provide solutions to 

identified issues, a ‘FAQ fact sheet’ was produced and a team 

of State based ‘super trainers’ were identified to deal with local 

matters. In addition to the website and membership system 

transition, AC continues to support the education platform, 

team nomination platform, regattas system and email 

management. 

I would like to personally thank members for your constructive 

feedback, patience and support on our IT journey to become 

an industry leader with more efficient and innovative platforms 

mailto:helpdesk@canoe.org.au
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to communicate and engage with our members and paddling 

enthusiasts. AC will continue to work with industry digital 

experts and the ASC to develop digital transformation 

strategies and systems to ensure we remain a cutting-edge ICT 

NSO. There is a saying that ‘data is the oil of business’ and we 

must continue to develop strategies to access, collect and 

utilise data to drive the catch cry ‘think water, think AC’. 

 

In respect to national education and safety matters, the 

Education & Safety Committee (E&SC) continued to be 

proactive whilst AC employed an Education Officer (Mark 

Thurgood) whose primary focus is with Australian Canoe Award 

Scheme matters. I commend you to read the achievements of 

AC in these areas in another section contained within the 

Annual Report.  

I am pleased to report that AC established a Recreational 

Committee with each State MA. Amongst other actions, this 

Committee will consider how to engage with recreational 

paddlers and assist in nationally driving the pending Waterways 

Guide (IT App).  

The ASC and the AIS continue to provide tremendous 

assistance, support and direction for AC. Funds provided under 

the annual Sports Investment Agreement are critical for the 

conduct and success of our programs. The AIS and the SIS/SAS 

network ensures that our paddlers are prepared, serviced and 

able to perform to the best of their ability in national and 

international competitions.  

To support athlete and coach development, AC appointed 

Melissa Hopwood (National Pathway Manager). The role 

provides leadership and coordination of all aspects of AC’s 

national athlete and coach pathways. Melissa works closely 

with the High Performance team and State MA’s to ensure 

athletes and coaches are identified, developed and supported 

in line with AC’s AWE performance targets. 

Our national teams comprising Canoe Polo (World 

Championships & Oceania Championships), Canoe Marathon 

(Junior/U23 & Senior World Championships, Masters World 

Cup), Wildwater (Junior/U23 & Senior World Championships), 

Freestyle (Junior/U23 & Senior World Championships), Ocean 

Racing (Junior/U23 & Senior World Championships, Masters 

World Cup),     Canoe Slalom (NTS,  Junior/U23 & Senior World 

Championships, Senior World Cups)  and Canoe Sprint (Olympic 

Hopes, Junior/U23 & Senior World Championships, Senior 

World Cups) competed with distinction. The success of our 

paddlers on the international stage provides inspiration to 

those who aspire to represent Australia as well as highlighting 

the strength of Canoeing in Australia. Next year our Sprint & 

Slalom paddlers will compete at the 2016 Rio Olympics and it is 

all systems go in the next few months as we qualify boats, 

prepare athletes and conduct selection events for the Games. 

I would like to thank the professional and extremely 

knowledgeable Board of Directors who continue to provide 

strong corporate governance and a clear strategic direction for 

the organisation as well as providing ‘value add’ to 

management. Danielle Woodward OAM (President/Chair) 

continues to provide outstanding leadership in managing the 

Board and fostering a culture of unity, accountability and 

transparency. 

There is a saying that ‘you are only as good as the people 

around you’ and this is certainly true with the AC staff. ‘Team 

AC’ demonstrated commitment, enthusiasm, expertise, 

professionalism and willingness to simply ‘get the job done’. 

For this, I personally congratulate the staff and reaffirm my 

belief that our staff is our organisation’s most valuable asset. 

The tireless and often thankless work of our fantastic team of 

volunteers needs special acknowledgement. These include 

officials at national events, Technical Committee Chairs and 

their committees and the team officials of our touring teams. 

On many occasions their contribution goes unnoticed but it is 

vital for our success and is greatly appreciated by the Board, 

management and members alike.  

2014/2015 has been a fantastic year for Canoeing in Australia 

and I look forward to continuing to grow our great sport with 

each of you in the coming years. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gregory P. Doyle 

Chief Executive Officer 

Australian Canoeing Ltd. 
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Our People
Board of Directors 

President and Chair Ms. Danielle Woodward OAM  

Director Mr. Martyn Clancy-Lowe  

Director Mr. Claude Harran (appointed July 2014) 

Director Mr. Ian Hume (elected October 2014) 

Director Mr. James Rennell  

Director Mr. Robbie Stewart (did not seek re-election at the AGM in October 2014) 

Director Ms. Anita Taylor (appointed March 2015) 

Athlete Representative Mr. Ken Wallace OAM  

 

 

Directors’ Meetings 
 

During the 2014-15 financial year, eight Board meetings were held. Attendance at those meetings was as follows: 

 

Director Board Meetings Eligible to Attend Board Meetings Attended Apologies for Absence 

Ms. Danielle Woodward OAM 8 6 2 

Mr. Martyn Clancy-Lowe 8 6 2 

Mr. Claude Harran 7 6 1 

Mr. Ian Hume 4 4 0 

Ms. Andrea McQuitty 8 7 1 

Mr. James Rennell 8 7 1 

Mr. Robbie Stewart 4 4 0 

Ms. Anita Taylor 2 2 0 

Mr. Ken Wallace OAM** 8 2 6 

**Chair – Athlete’s commission

 

  



 

 

 

10 

AC Corporate Office 

Chief Executive Officer Mr. Greg Doyle 

Business Manager Mr. Richard Roach 

Operations Manager Ms. Mary Macaluso 

ICT Coordinator Mr. Sam Lyons 

Community Participation 

Coordinator 

Mr. Mark Thurgood 

(appointed November 

2014) 

ICT Support/ 

Administration Officer 

Ms. Rosalyn Lawrence 

Administration Officer Ms. Asha Venkataya 

(resigned November 2014) 

Administration Officer Ms. Sarah Forsythe 

(appointed November 

2014/resigned February 

2015) (p/t) 

Administration Officer Ms. Courtney McMillan 

(appointed December 

2014) (p/t) 

Administration Officer Ms. Maggie Webster 

(appointed March 2015) 

(p/t) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AC High Performance Office 
National Performance Director Mr. Richard Fox  

High Performance Manager Ms. Lauren Fitzsimons 

National Pathways Manager Dr. Melissa Hopwood 

Program Manager - Slalom Ms. Natasha Welsh 

(maternity leave Nov 

2014 – June 2015) 

Program Coordinator - Slalom Ms. Asha Venkataya 

(appointed Nov 2014) 

Head National Coach - Slalom Mr. Mike Druce 

National Coach - Slalom Mrs. Myriam Fox  

National Coach - Slalom Nick Smith (resigned 

September 2014) 

NSWIS National Coach - Slalom Mr. Julien Billaut 

Sports Scientist - Slalom Mr. David Dwyer 

Program Manager - Sprint Ms. Christine Bain 

Head Coach (Men) - Sprint Mr. Jimmy Owens 

Head Coach (Women) - Sprint Mr. David Foureur 

Coach (Women) - Sprint Ms. Anna Wood  

Coach (Men) - Sprint Mr. Anders 

Gustafsson (resigned 

May 2015) 

Coach - Paracanoe Ms. Andrea King 

National Coordinator 200m Mr. Mike Pond 

High Performance Support   Mr. Tom Collings 

NSWIS Coach - Sprint Mr. Tim Jacobs  

SASI Coach - Sprint Mr. Kris Lepianka 

SASI Coach - Sprint Mr. Nathan Luce 

WAIS Coach - Sprint Mr. Ramon Andersson 

Sports Science Mr. Brett Slocombe 

Sports Science Ms. Nicola Bullock 

Sports Science Mr. Glen Workman 

Sports Science Mr. Dave Aitkin 
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Life Members (* denotes deceased) 
Brownlee, Mr. Os * 1972 

Brownlee OAM, Miss. Helen  1999 

Chenoworth, Mr. Ross * 1971 

Coles AM, Mr. Phil  1981 

Gardner, Mr. Gary * 1994 

Hill, Mr. Max * 1971 

Hopkins, Mr. Albert * 1971 

Howard, Mr. Arthur * 1971 

Johnson, Mr. Graham  1985 

Morison OAM, Mrs. Joan  * 2003 

Murphy OAM, Mr. Thomas James (Jim)  2005 

 Savage, Mr. Harry     * 1971 

  Varcoe, Mr. George     * 1971 

 Whitebrook, Mr. Frank     * 1971 

Woodward OAM, Ms. Danielle  2014 

 

 

Committees  
 

Canoe Polo Technical Committee 

Chair   Ian Beasley 

Board Rep.   Martyn Clancy-Lowe 

Member  Duncan Cochrane 

Member  Carolyn Cochrane 

Member  Rowan Holt 

Member  Brooke Honeyman 

Member  John Moore 

Member  Donald Leigh 

Member  Robert Watson 

Secretary  Anthea Courtney 

 

 

 

Athletes Commission 

Chair   Ken Wallace 

Vice Chair  Kate McGrath 

Member     Craig Hutchinson 

Member   Sarah Forsythe 

 

Canoe Marathon Racing Technical 

Committee 

Chair   Jeremy Dunn 

Board Rep.  Martyn Clancy-Lowe 

Member   Thomas Balaam 

Member   Martin Finn 

Member   Tom Hirrschoff 

Member   Terry Poole 

Secretary   Connie Todaro 

Consultant  Don Campbell 

Consultant  Joe Alia 
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Canoe Slalom Technical Committee 

Chair    Peter Grant 

Board Rep.  Ian Hume 

Ex-officio Member  Mike Druce 

Ex-officio Member Richard Fox 

Ex-officio Member Danielle Woodward OAM 

Member   Graeme Caudry 

Member   Peter Eckhardt 

Member   Christine Grant 

Member   Louise Natoli 

Member   Sue Natoli 

Member   Chris Thompson 

Member   Lucy Williams 

 

Canoe Sprint Technical Committee 

Chair   Greg Kaeding 

Board Rep.  Martyn Clancy Lowe 

Ex-officio Member Richard Fox 

Member   Peter Gargiulo 

Member   Ian Hume 

Member   Dasha Kopecek 

Member   Jeremy Norton 

Member   Laura White 

 

Freestyle Technical Committee 

Chair   Jez Jezz 

Board Rep.   James Rennell 

Member   Eileen Callaghan 

Member   Sue Robb 

Member   Joseph Dunne 

Member   Joshua Singleton 

Boatercross Rep  Josh Bond 

Freestyle Selector Garry Finlay 

 

Ocean Racing Technical Committee 

Chair   Robbie Stewart 

Board Rep.  James Rennell 

Ex-officio Member Greg Doyle 

Member   Geoff Dews 

Member   Mark Forbes 

Member   Tim Hookins 

Member   Julie Jenkinson 

Member   Rob Jenkinson  

Wildwater Technical Committee 

Chair   Peter McIntyre 

Board Rep.  Danielle Woodward OAM 

Member   Matt Dalziel 

Member   Leigh Murphy 

Member   Matthew French 

 

Education and Safety Committee 

Chair   Jason Dicker 

Board Rep.  Andrea McQuitty 

Ex-officio Member Mark Thurgood 

Member   Peter Carter 

Member   Ian Hume 

Member   Morgen Masuku 

Member   Nick Anson 

Member   Graham Sharpe 

 

Audit & Risk Committee 

Board Rep (Chair)  Danielle Woodward OAM 

Member   Ross Fowler 

Member   Connie Todaro  

Member   Jocelyn Webb 

Ex-officio Member Greg Doyle 

Ex-officio Member Richard Roach 

 

Honours Committee 

Member   John Borojevic 

Member   Helen Brownlee OAM 

Member   Jeremy Dunn 

Member   Jim Murphy OAM 

 

Nominations Committee 

Board Rep (Chair)  Martyn Clancy-Lowe 

Member   Paul Bruce  

Member   Geoff Howes 

Member   Amanda Branley 
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Obituaries 
Vale Don Gomer 

On the 1 April 2015 at 82 years of age Don Gomer passed 

away. 

 

Don was a dedicated active member of the West Lakes 

Canoe Club for thirty years and he was a TC1/C2/TC2/C4 

marathon paddler of great determination & renown. He 

paddled many Red Cross Murray 400 Marathons, Riverland 

Paddling Marathons, World Masters Games, Australian 

Masters Games and Canoe SA Sprint Regattas. He regularly 

paddled C2/TC2 with Derek Stevens. 

Don lived at Devon Downs on the River Murray via Swan 

Reach. He would regularly drive the two hours+ (each way), 

to compete in the Canoe South Australia Sprint Regattas.  

Don also paddled with Derek Stevens on many occasions and 

at many canoe marathons including ten Gregory River 

Marathons in Katherine (with the freshwater crocodiles!) 

and the entire length of the Murray River with his son. 

Don Gomer was honoured with Life Membership of the West 

Lakes Canoe Club for his dedicated service to the club.  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vale Joan & Bruce Morison 
It is with great sadness that Australian Canoeing has lost two 

great legends of the paddling community; Joan and Bruce 

Morison. 

 

It is safe to say that canoeing would not be what it is in 

Australia today without the monumental efforts of Joan 

Morison OAM (passed away May 2015) and her husband 

Bruce Morison OAM (passed away December 2014). Joan 

and Bruce’s involvement with canoeing crossed all 

disciplines and facets of the sport at local, state and national 

levels. 

The following timeline barely reveals the surface of the 

Morisons’ involvement in the sport.  

 1940s – Joan and Bruce convened a meeting that 

established the Youth Hostels Association Canoe 

Club.  

 

 1947 – Joan paddled on the Nepean River for the 

first time. 

 

 1949 – the NSW Association of Canoe Clubs held 

its first official meeting. Two days later the 

Australian Canoe Federation came into being. 

 

 1956 – Joan was selected in the “train on” squad 

for the 1956 Melbourne Olympic Games. 

Unfortunately she was disbarred from ALL sport 

when she fell pregnant, and missed the Games 

despite giving birth well beforehand. 

 

 1975 – Canoeing NSW ran a Safety Conference and 

the Morisons were senior instructors and 

examiners for the Safety Awards Scheme. This role 

continued for the next four decades. 

 

 1975-80, 1985-86 – Bruce was President of NSW 

Canoeing. 

 

 1979-1983 – Bruce was the chair of the Board of 

Canoe Education. 

 

 1980 – Joan & Bruce received life memberships of 

the NSW Canoeing Association. 

 

 1983 – Joan was elected to the honorary position 

of Secretary-General of the Australian Canoe 

Federation. 
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 1985-1987 – Joan attended the first meeting of the 

ASC, and also began coaching with the new 

Australian Institute of Sport. 

 

 1986 – Joan was appointed as National Executive 

Director of the Australian Canoeing Federation. 

           – The first national office was established. 

 

 1986-2003 – The Morisons organised and 

successfully ran junior development camps with 

many paddlers progressing to achieve State, 

National, International and Olympic medals. 

 

 1992 – Joan received her OAM. 

 

 2000 – Joan and Bruce were key officials at the 

Sydney Olympic Games. Leading in to the Games, 

Joan advised Price Waterhouse on the needs of 

slalom.  

 

 2003 – Joan was elected as a life member of 

Australian Canoeing at the 54th AGM. 

 

 2009 – Bruce received his OAM. 

 

 2012 – Joan completed her 26th Hawkesbury 

Classic at 81 years of age, this time with her 

doubles partner Richard Barnes. 

 

Joan worked tirelessly to establish a sound financial base and 

efficient management procedures in canoeing. 

The establishment of the national training centres for 

Flatwater (Gold Coast) and Slalom (formerly in Tasmania) 

were a direct result of Joan’s persistent lobbying to the 

government. 

 

 

 

 

In Joan’s own words: 

‘Canoeing began for me in 1947, up the Nepean 

Gorge from Penrith. I was sixteen years old and the 

boat we hired was a "tub". 

Then when our YHA Canoe Club ran a white water 

trip with both the other clubs (River Canoe Club & 

Cruising Canoe Club) on the Williams, it was in flood, 

we had a taste of real white water and we never 

looked back.  In 1949 the three clubs formed the 

NSW Canoe Association in preparation for the 

coming Melbourne Olympics – soon after the 

Australian Canoe Federation formed. 

As Sprint racing began in 1951, Marathon also 

began with the first 100 Mile Marathon from 

Penrith to the Hawkesbury River Road Bridge.  We 

were paddling five years before we won the right to 

enter a Marathon. 

We women were banned from the 1951 event 

because it would render us unable to have children 

- I kid you not!   It was an era when men really ruled 

- but we ladies pushed the boundaries - became the 

first women to paddle a 100 mile non-stop 

Marathon in the World!’ 

On behalf of the canoeing community, we thank Joan & 

Bruce for bringing this sport to so many Australians and 

working so hard to share their love of paddling with the rest 

of the country.  

May Joan and Bruce rest in peace together. 
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Who is AC? 

 

Members by Age Group 

 

 
* Numbers stated do not include those who do not disclose date of birth 
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Our Award Winners 2013-14 
Canoeist of the Year (Olympic Discipline) Jessica Fox  

Canoeist of the Year (Non-Olympic Discipline) Ken Wallace  

Junior Canoeist of the Year (Olympic Discipline) Kate Eckhardt  

Junior Canoeist of the Year (Non-Olympic Discipline) Alexandra Broome 

Paracanoeist of the Year Curtis McGrath 

Team of the Year Open Men’s K2; Lachlan Tame and Ken Wallace 

Instructor/Guide of the Year Adrian Conal Gain 

Coach of the Year Myriam Fox  

Technical Official of the Year Ian Hume and Sue Natoli 

Service to Canoeing David Gibbs, Anton Holmes and Steve Vegh 

Award of Merit 
Local Organising Committee of the 2014 Junior 

and U23 Canoe Slalom World Championships 

Award of Merit John Jacoby 

Award of Merit 
Junior Men’s K4 Team; Jy Duffy, Jayden Ellis, 

Riley Fitzsimmons and Sean Lohse 
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Our Website 
Australian Canoeing Website – Views/Visitors Per Month 

 

*AC has changed its website during the 2014-15 financial year. As a result, the tools being used to measure visitor statistics have 

changed. Therefore, for this year, statistics will not be compared to previous years. 

 

   

   

   

 

 

Social Media Followers 
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Our Members
Canoeing South Australia 

Overview 
 Independent director joins Board; 

 Grant funding from SA Government increases 

through project funding; 

 Success at Pathway Program; 

 Education program continues innovation; 

 Executive Officer retires. 

Board 
There have been some changes in personnel at Board level, 

with Leticia Mooney joining as an independent director, 

along with interested directors Peter Johnston (Holdfast 

Bay) and Mark Bulmer (West Lakes). The Board also 

acknowledges the work of Martin Finn (Holdfast Bay) who 

has been a long-serving member and active member of the 

Board, as well as independent director Ben Angel. 

Grant Funding  
Funding from SA Government Office for Recreation and 

Sport 2014/15: 

 Leadership and Sustainability: Paddle Pathways 

Program; 

 (Australian Canoeing also contributed 

significantly); 

 Trails development. 

Strategic and Operational Plan 
 Review of both Strategic and Operational Plan; 

 Strategic forum held in October and review of 

Strategic Plan to inform decision-making and 

operational planning by the Board. 

Education and Training – ACAS 
 Active committee with structured program 

delivered throughout 2014-15; 

 Structured school holiday programs and council 

holiday programs delivered in both metro and 

regional areas; 

 Flatwater program re-organised into one-day 

courses to allow for structured delivery; 

 Workshops held for Assessors and Instructors; 

 Group assessment days held, with twelve assessors 

attending, to model assessment protocols and 

induction process for new assessors; 

 Introductory kayak sessions held for schools; 

 International students introductory sessions held 

for thirteen schools and a university. 

Pathway Program 
 Pathway Program Co-coordinator/Coach recruited; 

 Program linking with clubs and Surf Life Saving; 

 Ten South Australian athletes attended Olympic 

Hopes Regatta in September 2015. 

Events and Competition 
 Cristie Florian (West Lakes) selected for 2015 ICF 

World Championships in C1; 

 South Australia had four men in Australian Canoe 

Polo Men’s Team at ICF Canoe Polo World 

Championships in France; 

 Sam Germein (West Lakes) selected to compete in 

2015 ICF World Paracanoe Championships in Milan, 

Italy in August 2015 in Va’a and K1; 

 Approximately 100 students, teachers, volunteers 

and local community groups participated in the 

2014 Canoe SA Team Paddle Challenge, comprised 

of orienteering, camping and paddle skills; 

 Flatwater Racing – one national GP, six regattas and 

five LD races held in SA; 

 Ocean Racing – five races held over winter/spring. 

 

Ian Heard  

Executive Officer 

Canoe South Australia 
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Canoe Tasmania 

Canoe Tasmania and its three affiliated clubs have remained 

strong and sustainable over the 2014-15 year and we are in 

discussions with a potential fourth club which is seeking to 

affiliate. If this proceeds this will further strengthen the 

association. Membership however has fallen slightly 

compared to previous years with this attributed to teething 

issues with the new AC membership system.  

Through the Australian Canoeing Award Scheme education 

program we have continued to provide a wide array of 

courses, helping get people into canoeing in a safe and 

enjoyable fashion, and providing basic through to high-level 

instructor skills to maintain and increase the spread of good 

canoeing techniques and practices. This year again saw 

collaboration with the Tasmanian Sea Canoeing Club to bring 

an international standard sea instructor to the state. These 

sessions were well supported and we will continue to work 

with them as the partnership is mutually beneficial – 

lowering costs for both and enabling the highest calibre 

instructors to be employed.  

Hydro Tasmania continued its dam and power station 

maintenance, which affected key waterways. This restricted 

competition and the education program’s venue options 

throughout the year, creating logistical challenges which we 

nonetheless worked around. Hydro Tasmania has, as always, 

been incredibly helpful and supportive within their 

maintenance and generation limitations.  

All clubs in the state have continued to run a wide array of 

events including Slalom, Flatwater (Sprint and longer races), 

Ocean Racing, Wildwater Racing, Extreme Racing, as well as 

a wide range of recreational paddling. Well over fifty 

competitive events are now conducted each year, meaning 

there is rarely a week throughout the year without a 

competition paddling opportunity.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Canoe Polo competitions are also well supported in the 

north and south of the state with over twenty weeks of 

roster competition each year and State Championships now 

held in three successive years.  Canoe Tasmania remains 

hopeful that Tasmania will again field teams in the National 

Championships as it has done previously.  

Recreational paddling continues its growth with whitewater, 

sea, lake and estuary paddling being increasingly popular for 

fitness and general recreation. Derwent Canoe Club has 

followed Tamar’s lead and is scheduling regular novice to 

intermediate “under 3” trips as a pathway into paddling. 

There are also many informal paddling groups meeting for 

regular social and training paddles at many venues across 

the state. A continuing challenge is maintaining our enviable 

safety record and somehow reaching the legions of sit-on-

top and beginner estuary/sea paddlers who pose risks to 

themselves through poor skills and potential lack of 

awareness of canoeing’s inherent risks.  

The Slalom Development Program, primarily located in the 

south, coached by Peter Eckhardt and David Borojević, has 

gone from strength to strength, with a strong pool of young 

paddlers making their mark nationally and internationally. 

Four Tasmanians – Kate Eckhardt, Daniel Watkins, Jake 

Hodkinson and Rohan Borojevic – represented Australia at 

the World Junior and Under 23 Slalom Championships in 

Brazil. Daniel and Kate in particular are making their mark, 

winning a range of international medals in competition this 

year. This year has also seen a partnership between 

Australian Canoeing, Canoe Tasmania and the Tasmanian 

Institute of Sport to employ a dedicated Slalom Coach. 

Welcome to Jonathan Davis. 
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 The Junior Wildwater Development Program, primarily in 

the north-west with Bruce Cameron coaching, has continued 

to produce quality, with local paddlers Tom Mountney and 

Luis Wilson selected in the National team to compete at the 

Junior and Under 23 World Championships in the USA in 

July/August 2015. Tasmania also successfully hosted the 

2014 Australian Wildwater Championships.  

Ocean racing has also continued strongly with a big selection 

of races each summer – both twilight and longer sea-breeze 

ocean races almost every weekend. This is supplemented by 

strongly supported flatwater races over winter.  Both sprint 

and 10km races have remained very popular. Coaches Stuart 

Paine and co. in the north west and Chris Blackaby in the 

south have a stable of young, fast paddlers, and an 

increasing array of sprint boats coming into the state. The 

inclusion of Tasmania in the national pathway strategy for 

flatwater, and the additional mentoring and support for local 

coaches via the Coach Connect arrangements continues to 

benefit this discipline 

In Extreme Racing the Lea Race continues after eleven years 

as Australia’s premier Extreme race, along with its newer 

cousin – the North Esk Paddle Fest, which was hugely 

successful for its second year. This is a welcome addition to 

the Extreme racing calendar. February 2015 saw Cataract 

Gorge again host a well-supported Extreme race giving the 

state three high quality events.   

Canoe Tasmania remains in a strong position financially and 

due to good membership numbers across the clubs we kept 

affiliation fees low again in 2014-15, financially benefiting 

clubs and strengthening their ability to fund activities and 

equipment for their members. We look forward to a strong 

2015-16.  

John Borojević 

Chair   

Canoe Tasmania Inc.  
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Canoeing Victoria 

This year, Canoeing Victoria began to reap the benefits of 

our continuing investment in a number of initiatives aimed 

at increasing and improving participation and pathway 

opportunities for Victoria’s paddling community.   

Our Junior member numbers are increasing, there are more 

accredited female paddling leaders in our clubs, we received 

support from Australian Canoeing to enhance the daily 

training environments for pre-elite athletes at two clubs, the 

upgraded Nagambie Lake Regatta Centre has set a new 

benchmark for a quality national level canoe polo 

competition facility, and we secured funding to upgrade the 

Goulburn Whitewater Centre. 

At the same time, Canoeing Victoria posted an operating 

surplus of $73,931 for the 2014-15 financial year, up from 

$44,837 in 2013-14.  The positive financial results of 2014-15 

will support our events and continued investment in a 

number of participation and pathway initiatives over the 

next year. 

Canoeing Victoria continued to receive strong financial 

support from our supporters, in particular from the Victorian 

Government through Sport and Recreation Victoria and from 

VicHealth.  This support has been critical to the staging of 

two successful Australian Championships in Victoria as well 

as the implementation of a number of development 

initiatives during the year. 

Events 
Our technical s, with support from our clubs, continued to 

deliver a broad range of more than 100 competitive paddling 

opportunities across Victoria, from grassroots introduction 

to national championship level.   

 

Canoeing Victoria delivered two very successful national 

championship events.  In January 2015, our Slalom discipline 

hosted the Australian Canoe Slalom Championships on the 

Goulburn River at Eildon, and in April 2015, our Canoe Polo 

Committee hosted the Australian Canoe Polo 

Championships at the Nagambie Lakes Regatta Centre at 

Nagambie.   

Our Marathon and Canoe Polo disciplines introduced new 

formats to their events to respond to the changing ways in 

which people participate in sport.  Marathon allowed clubs 

increased flexibility to decide the format of the events they 

hosted, and reduced the number of overall races.  This 

resulted in increased total participation and decreased the 

demands on our busy volunteers.  Canoe Polo introduced a 

new format for their A and B grade Melbourne competitions,  

 

and a mixed-grade ‘A’ game during their interclub 

competitions providing an opportunity for our emerging 

Junior paddlers to experience high performance 

competition, while providing our top players with an elite 

level competition. 

During the year, the Board welcomed the formation of a 

Victorian Ocean Racing Committee.  The structure and terms 

of reference of our new Committee are currently being 

defined. 

2014-15 Initiatives: 

Youth Participation Initiative 
Implementation of the Paddlepower youth participation 

program continued at three clubs with outstanding results.  

Through the scheme, Canoeing Victoria and our pilot clubs 

have introduced paddling to more than 1,200 young people 

over the last two years.  The scheme has been delivered in a 

variety of formats including in-school programs, holiday 

programs, and after school programs including several 

successful ASC Active After-school Community programs 

during terms 3 and 4 in 2014.  It was pleasing to see that 

despite a decrease in our total membership numbers, our 

‘Junior’ and ‘Limited Youth’ member categories increased by 

fifteen percent and nineteen percent respectively. 

Canoeing Victoria was successful in an expression of interest 

to work with VicSport and the Australian Childhood 

Foundation to address how best to make paddling a 

welcoming, inclusive, and safe environment for children. The 

Board and executive are committed to ensuring the 

association’s policies, procedures, and programs encourage 

a culture of safety. To this end, a ‘Safeguarding Children’ sub-

committee was formed to investigate how best to address 

the issues involved, and to implement a resulting action plan 

over the next year.  
 

Women’s Participation Initiative 
Canoeing Victoria continued to develop and support our 

‘workforce’ of women.  The program of ‘River Rambles’ 

social paddles for women continued, as did our support for 

women to achieve paddling leader (coach and guide) 

accreditation.  Twelve new leaders can now add to the River 

Ramble calendar of events and provide more participation 

opportunities for female club members as well as the wider 

paddling community. 

The Board will recommend to members at the 2014-15 AGM 

inclusion of a gender equity clause in our constitution.  The 

change aims to strive for true gender equity in our 
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governance and will ensure that at least 25% of each gender 

is represented on the Board in the future. 

Performance Pathway Initiatives 
Canoeing Victoria received Pathway Program support 

funding from Australian Canoeing.  The objectives of the 

funding were to enhance the daily training environment for 

Slalom, Sprint and Paracanoe athletes and provide pre-elite 

development opportunities for emerging athletes through 

State Development Squad mini-camps. Melbourne Canoe 

Club (Slalom) and Patterson Lake Canoe Club 

(Sprint/Paracanoe) were the key clubs selected by Australian 

Canoeing to participate in this year’s program. 

 

Community Participation Initiatives 
We continued to support Aboriginal communities in Mildura 

and East Gippsland to develop locally managed, safe and 

sustainable opportunities to participate in canoeing. This 

was achieved by upskilling community members to achieve 

paddling leader accreditation under the Australian Canoeing 

Award Scheme. These accredited paddling leaders are now 

well prepared to run local canoeing participation activities 

for their communities. 

 

Education Initiatives 
During the year, the Board made a commitment to invest in 

the development of our education area.  To this end, the 

new position was created and a Business Education Manager 

was appointed in February 2015. 

 

Throughout the year, our Education team continued to 

deliver training and skill development opportunities to the 

outdoor and education sectors through delivery of the 

Australian Canoeing Award Scheme guide and instructor 

courses, and to schools and the general public through 

Paddlepower and the Basic Skills Award.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The team also delivered Australian Canoeing coach 

accreditation courses to support participation and 

performance pathway activities of our clubs and disciplines. 

For the first time, Canoeing Victoria was represented at the 

Outdoors Victoria Education Conference in May 2015, where 

we aimed to raise the profile of Canoeing Victoria and 

improve our understanding of the paddling related needs of 

the outdoor and education sectors.  Our Business Education 

Manager also represented Canoeing Victoria and the 

interests of the paddling community on several industry 

bodies including the Play It Safe By The Water Committee 

and the Boating Water Safety Group. 

Facility Initiatives 
Access to fit-for-purpose facilities and places to paddle is 

critical to participation and performance at all levels in both 

recreational and competitive paddling.  During the year, in 

addition to actively supporting several clubs to have access 

to fit-for-purpose facilities, Canoeing Victoria also pursued 

several broader facilities related initiatives.   

 

Consultant Inside Edge Sport and Leisure Planning (IESLP) 

presented a Strategic Facilities Plan to the board for 

consideration.  The aim of the plan is to provide a clear focus 

on the future development of canoeing facilities in Victoria 

over the next twenty years and include facility requirements 

for recreational and competitive paddling, education and 

introduction-to-paddling, and administration. The Board is 

currently reviewing the recommendations. 
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 The Strategic Facilities Plan confirmed a clear need for a 

Regional Paddle Sports Centre serving Melbourne’s northern 

and eastern regions.  IESLP was appointed to prepare a 

master plan for a centre at Westerfolds Park which builds on 

the site’s existing infrastructure and use.  The plan includes 

significant improvements to in-water and riverbank 

infrastructure including adjustable slalom gates; improved 

river access and whitewater features; and a shared, 

multipurpose building for Canoeing Victoria and club 

accommodation. 

Prior to the Australian Canoe Polo Championships, the 

Strathbogie Shire Council made further enhancements to 

the Canoe Polo field infrastructure that was established last 

year at the Nagambie Lakes Regatta Centre. Combined with 

the existing competition management and support 

infrastructure already available at the venue, Victoria has a 

new benchmark for a quality national standard Canoe Polo 

venue. 

The executive and the Slalom discipline continued to pursue 

opportunities for a pumped whitewater facility in Victoria to 

support Slalom and whitewater competition, training, 

education and skill development.  While none have yet come 

to fruition, our focus on this important facility will continue. 

Andrea Boothroyd 

Executive Officer 

Canoeing Victoria 
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Canoeing Western Australia 

Members 
Although not through to the end of our membership year, 

our membership stands at 2123, the break-up is 1005 males; 

640 females; 407 juniors and 71 volunteers. 

Our membership year does not end until the 30th of 

September each year. 

Clubs 
The break-up between the above membership is over twelve 

clubs, with our two largest being Ascot Kayak Club with in 

excess of 650 members and Swan Canoe Club with over 350 

members. The Clubs are broken up with three regional and 

nine metropolitan clubs. All the clubs are very proactive in 

their different areas. 

Disciplines 
We are very fortunate here in WA to have such active 

Committees: Marathon, Slalom, Ocean Racing, Sprint, 

Wildwater, Sea Kayak and Canoe Polo all run amazing series 

over the year. Between all the disciplines they run 

approximately 47 events, which are well supported by all 

CWA members and the wider community. 

Sea Kayak run a very successful and informative symposium 

in February each year down in Albany which has some 

amazing coastline. 

Juniors 
Six of our clubs cater for Juniors here in WA; our Juniors start 

off in a guppy boat and then move up to a K1 once their skills 

are honed. Recently all the clubs came together for a Guppy 

Day at Ascot Kayak Club where sixty juniors came for a day 

of paddling, fun and a Q&A session with WAIS athletes. 

There was also an education session for parents new to the 

paddling scene on timing and general information. 

See picture below, the day was stormy, pouring with rain and 

very cold, but these kids all turned up for the event. 

Volunteers 

In WA we are absolutely blessed with our volunteers. Not 

only do they work so hard within their own clubs and 

disciplines but they are also on-call for any of our CWA 

events. 

I really cannot speak highly enough of these amazing people 

that make our life in the CWA office so much easier. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Education 

Currently we work with fourteen schools and several 

government organisations, the number of schools equate to 

407 students. With the schools we do not only offer 

flatwater sessions but also whitewater sessions, when we 

actually have some whitewater in WA. The whitewater 

sessions are held on the Avon and the Murray Rivers, both 

are only an hour and half from Perth. 

Instructors  

Our Instructors that we employ for our Paddle Academy are 

very experienced paddlers and we are very fortunate to have 

such a great team teaching our young people about our 

wonderful sport. 

High Performance 
This year has seen three of our junior paddlers receive WAIS 

scholarships and WAIS have provided strength and 

conditioning to selected junior paddlers from both Slalom 

and Sprint. 

Over the past year we have had some exceptional results 

from our athletes competing nationally and internationally, 

with 29 athletes representing Australia in Sprint, Slalom, 

Wildwater, Ocean Racing, Freestyle and Marathon. 

Western Australia also had fourteen members from our 

sprint discipline selected for the National Elite Development 

Program (NEDP) squad and fifteen Slalom paddlers selected 

to the National Talent Squad. The future of our sport in the 

Olympic disciplines is looking very good for the state of 

Western Australia. 

CWA Events 
CWA run five events through the year not only for our 

members but for the general paddling community who at 

this stage are not our members. This year we have, for the 

first time, been the Event Managers for the Avon Descent. 

The CWA Board unanimously agreed to take on this event 

when we were approached by the Northam Avon Descent 

Association (NADA).  
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Although a huge undertaking, we have had a very successful 

first year with a great deal of crazy hours worked to pull the 

event off. CWA has been overwhelmed with the amount of 

support and positive feedback since the event on the first 

weekend in August; from competitors, sponsors, community 

groups and volunteers. 

There were two main reasons that CWA took on the Avon 

Descent: 

1 We believed CWA should have always been 

more involved with the event; and 

2 It would raise the profile of CWA and paddling 

in general in Western Australia 

 

At this early stage we certainly believe that point 2 has 

definitely been achieved, with great coverage on all TV 

stations and local and state-wide press. 

CWA Programs 
Not only do we run Paddle Academy but for four years we 

have run the ‘Women of the Avon Program’, which is run 

over four weeks and is for all ladies of varying degrees of 

paddling ability. 

 

Once again we are fortunate to have as instructors legends 

of the Avon, as well as men and women who have competed 

in the Avon Descent many, many times. 

 

This has been a very successful program; the only negative 

feedback that we ever receive about it is that there should 

be one for men! 

Rosalie Evans (JP) 

Executive Officer  

Canoeing WA 
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Paddle NSW 

The Board, up until August 2015, consisted of: Tony Hystek 

(vice Chairman), Lynn Parker, Tim Ring, Andrew Mathers, 

Chris Thompson, Kiaran Lomas, Anjie Lees and myself: Tim 

Hookins (Chairman). 

There have been several changes of Board members during 

the 2014-2015 term. Val Titov unfortunately had to resign 

owing to health issues and her contribution to the graphics, 

marketing and design for PaddleNSW has been missed. Anjie 

Lees and Kiaran Lomas accepted invitations to be nominated 

to the Board in February and have made strong 

contributions ever since. Kiaran has represented the 

interests of the ACT paddlers and SUP paddling and has 

recently taken responsibility for the running and 

development of coaching and other courses. Anjie has 

slotted into the development of marketing and many other 

general development components of PaddleNSW.  

Tim Ring let us know in August that he could not continue as 

the overseer of the financial aspects because of an increased 

workload in his professional life. He has been a reliable 

stalwart for three years and the Board is indebted to him for 

his input into the finances month after month. We have been 

very fortunate to have accepted the services of Ross Fraser 

who is an accountant. He was appointed to the Board at the 

September meeting and will take over the role of minding 

the finances. Also appointed to the Board at the September 

meeting was Bob Turner who has until now been the Chair 

of the Marathon Technical Committee. We welcome Bob 

with his business skills and we feel sure he will bring these to 

bear in the most beneficial way to the Board. Chris 

Thompson remains as our legal specialist and Andrew 

Mathers continues to serve with the website arrangements 

and membership.  

I have been involved with the fortunes of PaddleNSW since 

its inception in 2007. I have been Vice Chair since 2008 and 

Chair since 2012. I have indicated that I will not stand for re-

election at the forthcoming AGM. 

CEO & Staff 

Peter Tate has continued in the role and now has a solid 

grasp on all things administrative in the organisation. This 

will be his third AGM and we hope his contribution will 

continue far into the future. He has been involved in the 

move of the Sports House office to Parkview Drive, Sydney 

Olympic Park which has occurred fairly seamlessly under his 

supervision.  

 

 

 

 

 

Our Accounts Officer, Denise Rogers has been working in the 

office since August 2014 on a one-day per week basis.  

 

Throughout this year the Board has been working towards 

the engagement of a Development Officer to foster and 

encourage paddling in schools and amongst Junior paddlers 

in association with our clubs. The position was advertised 

and it is hoped the successful applicant will be starting in the 

very near future. 

 

Co-operation With Likeminded Bodies 

The Board is in the process of developing stronger ties with 

associated bodies. Membership registration now goes 

through the Australian Canoeing (AC) website. The Board 

also introduced full competitive membership of AC to all full 

PaddleNSW members and dropped the special category of 

Premium membership. This means all PaddleNSW members 

are full AC members as well. PaddleNSW would like to use 

the AC website templates but this is proving a hard nut to 

crack. Recent events have adopted the AC registration 

system and this appears to have a promising future. 

 

Late in 2014 the PaddleNSW Ocean Racing Technical 

Committee bought the rights to the Sydney Ocean Series and 

has been developing it ever since. This year features a series 

of six events each hosted by a different organisation. Four of 

the events are hosted by Surf Lifesaving Clubs and 

this is proving to be a worthwhile and interesting 

partnership. There has been talk of partnering with Surf 

Lifesaving for quite a few years but this is the first time it has 

really happened. The two events jointly run so far have 

proven to be successful learning experiences. We expect 

benefits to flow from this association over the years. This 

association has led to the major surfski event of the year in 

New South Wales, the 20 Beaches Classic, coming under the 

umbrella of PaddleNSW. 

Since the opportunity to run the Myall Classic has been given 

to PaddleNSW this event has become the flagship of the 

organisation in the marathon field. It was very proficiently 

and successfully run in September, achieving just under 300 

entrants. Congratulations to Tony Hystek and his team for 

putting together the event. The Myall enables closer links 

with the organisers of the Hawkesbury Classic and these 

have become stronger during the year. 

  

 

 

 

 



 

27  

27 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Commercial Operators 

The Board has worked towards engaging private commercial 

operators within the PaddleNSW network. Meetings were 

held with individual operators with a view to developing 

links enabling crossover with websites, promotional 

opportunities and ways in which PaddleNSW and operators 

could assist one another, for example with advocacy. This is 

an ongoing exercise and one which will ultimately benefit 

both sides. The Waterways Guide now lists the likely bodies 

involved.  

 

Waterways Guide  
This has become an established asset and is now available as 

an app on mobile phones. Lynn Parker and Jeff Cottrell have 

continued to steer its advancement and they are currently in 

discussions with other state sporting organisations to extend 

its use throughout Australia. With steady support and 

marketing it will continue to grow. It is a wonderful vehicle 

for creating links to other organisations. 

Significant new additions are links to Paddling Clubs, Fishing 

Clubs, Canoe and Kayak Tours, Fishing guides and Tours, 

Kayak and Canoe Shops, Kayak and Canoe Hire and Fishing 

Gear shops. Once more people get to know about these links 

it will take off. 

 

Sydney International Boat Show 

Ties with Maritime NSW have never been better. For the 

third year Maritime has facilitated PaddleNSW running a 

stand at the Sydney International Boat Show. This stand was 

run by volunteers from PaddleNSW led by Lynn Parker and 

featured the Waterways Guide which once again created a 

lot of interest. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Membership Organisation 
After consultation with key clubs and advice to all clubs the 

Board decided to support the club organisations directly by 

requiring that all PaddleNSW members be club members at 

the time of joining PaddleNSW. This will have the effect of 

encouraging stronger support for our clubs, which remain 

the mainstay of our organisation. For people who really 

cannot get much benefit from a nearby club, country 

membership has been introduced and clubs have been asked 

to introduce country membership at very low rates. The 

original club set up for this purpose is Just Paddlers. They 

have an attractive membership fee structure and they are 

very happy to assist paddlers who will not easily be able to 

use normal club facilities.  
 

It has long been a source of concern to PaddleNSW that 

Australian Canoeing permits direct membership to members 

who live and paddle in NSW. Even though fees are 

transferred back to PaddleNSW, these paddlers, many of 

whom are the elite ones, do not consider themselves to be 

members of PaddleNSW.  

  

Vale Joan and Bruce Morison 

Sadly we had to bid farewell to both Joan and Bruce this year. 

Bruce passed away in December 2014 and Joan in May 2015. 

Joan and Bruce were foundation members of both New 

South Wales Canoeing and Australian Canoeing. Both held 

important positions in both organisations for many years 

and their contributions in time, effort and skill have been 

significant in developing them to what they are today. Joan 

and Bruce will be sorely missed by their family, their club and 

by PaddleNSW. 

 

Education and Training 

The Board admires and appreciates the efforts of Lynn 

Parker who has continued to lead and develop the Education 

and training arm of PaddleNSW and organised many courses 

during the year. Kiaran Lomas has offered to organise and 

run coaching courses from now on. 
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The Technical Committees 

The Board sees these as pivotal to our success into the future 

of paddling. While I leave individual paddlesports for the 

respective chairs to report, I would like nonetheless to list 

the Chairs of the Technical Committees and thank them and 

their hard working Committees for the invaluable 

contributions they have made to the success of paddling in 

NSW and ACT in 2014/15: 

 

MARATHON: Bob Turner; 

SPRINT: Laura White; 

OCEAN RACING INCLUDING HARBOUR RACING: Brett; 

Greenwood and Jeremy Spear; 

FREESTYLE: Eileen Callaghan; 

CANOE POLO: Richard Andrews; 

SLALOM: Chris Thompson. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Paddler Assistance Program 

This program has resulted in payments to Juniors and Under 

23 members, supporting them in overseas international 

representative events. While the payments are more 

encouragement than substantial, PaddleNSW is very proud 

to recognise the efforts of our Junior paddlers who strive 

with significant sacrifice to represent their country.  

  

I take this opportunity to voice my heartfelt appreciation and 

thanks to my fellow Board members who have toiled so 

willingly and cheerfully for all these years and brought this 

organisation so far since its inception. 

 

Timothy Hookins 

Chair 

PaddleNSW 
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Queensland Canoeing 
The last twelve months have seen many progressive changes 

at Queensland Canoeing Inc. (QC) and the work and 

dedication of volunteers, clubs, and staff cannot be 

understated.  All of these persons have played a pivotal role 

in the organisation. 

The Executive Officer, David Hills, continued the work he 

started in late 2013 and was quick to engage in many 

projects.  David maintained good relationships with State 

Government and ensured our objectives, as per our Strategic 

Plan, were being achieved.  In 2014 we achieved 100% of our 

identified goals. 

Unfortunately, David has recently resigned as the Executive 

Officer but I am certain we have not lost David to 

canoeing.  A new Executive Officer will commence in late 

September 2015.  The Board appointed Phil Pegg to the role 

of Interim Executive Officer until the position was filled. 

The six areas of our Strategic Plan continued to be 

developed: 

 Paddlesports; 

 Recreation and Education; 

 Olympic and Paralympic Pathways; 

 Operations; 

 Management; and 

 Governance. 

 

QC aligned its financial year, strategic planning cycle and 

membership year for more efficient operations.  Our 

finances have moved to cloud based accounting software, 

which gives greater security, transparency and better 

analysis for the technical committees. 

In mid 2015, QC initiated a Paddlers Forum in North 

Queensland.  The forum has produced many 

recommendations that have been presented to the QC 

Board for consideration. 

Under the leadership of Lynwen Birch the Canoe Marathon 

Technical Committee was reformed.  The Canoe Sprint 

Technical Committee was reformed after the 2014 

Queensland Championships, with the QC office staff 

providing guidance and assistance to the volunteers and 

eventually S'Tfan Horne stepped forward to take on the role 

of Chair.  The Canoe Polo Technical Committee continued its 

operations under the experience of Donald Leigh.  Julia 

Norton-Smith continues to lead Ocean Racing and Allana 

Bold looks after Open Canoeing (recreation). 

 

 

Queensland Schools Sprint and Marathon continue to place 

high on the agenda for young people.  Over 130 individuals 

from thirty schools attended the canoe marathon 

championships in September 2014.  A record number (165) 

attended the Queensland Schools Sprints in October 2014. 

Queensland is slowly rebuilding the participation in Canoe 

Polo with Junior teams winning the Micro Juniors 

competition for the second consecutive year at the 2015 

Australian Canoe Polo Championships and at the same 

championships the Under 16 QLD A Team bettered their 

achievement of the previous year to win a silver 

medal.  Queensland had eight members represent Australia 

in the Under 15 and Under 18 divisions at the Oceania Canoe 

Polo Championships held days after the National 

Championships. 

The State Ocean Racing Championships in 2014 had 61 

competitors whilst the annual Coomera Cup continues to 

attract good numbers.  Members have won or placed highly 

at the Molokai, Hamilton Island and Durban Downwind 

events.  

Queensland athletes continue to perform highly on the 

national and international stage.  In 2015 Queensland 

athletes had three Juniors, three Paracanoe, seven Senior, 

seven Under 23's and ten Olympic Hopeful athletes selected 

into national teams. 

Curtis McGrath has been widely recognised for his 

Paracanoe World Championship gold medal in 2014.  Curtis 

won the 2014 ‘QSport Para Athlete of the Year’ in late 

2014.  Curtis has continued this domination in 2015 and has 

been quick to convert and master the K1 when changes were 

introduced by the ICF at the beginning of 2015. 

Canoe sprint athletes have the 2016 Rio Olympics within 

their sights with strong performances at World Cups and 

World Championships.   

Some facts and figures for 2014/2015: 

 Number of clubs – 30; 

 Membership - 1416 (increase of 384); 

 Monthly e-newsletter distribution – 4500; 

 Facebook Likes - 4084+; and 

 Recreation and Community Programs participants 

- 7829 (for eighteen months January 2014-June 

2015). 
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Queensland Canoeing continues to work closely with: 

 Queensland Government - National Parks, Sport 

and Racing; 

 Rosco Canoes; 

 QSport - The Sports Federation of Queensland; 

 Queensland Outdoor Recreation Federation 

(QORF); 

 Australian Canoeing; and 

 All Queensland Canoeing Clubs. 

 

Thanks to our staff: 

 Rebecca Creighton-Kent (Administration, Finance 

and Clubs); 

 Michelle Scoccimarro (Education and Recreation); 

and 

 many instructors/guides. 

 

 

Further thanks to the QC Board of Directors: 

 Jeremy Dunn (President); 

 Phil Pegg (Treasurer); 

 Allan Satterthwaite (Interested Director); 

 Mark Mustchin (Interested Director); 

 Peter Cooke (Interested Director); 

 Susan Mercer (Independent); and  

 Judith Holmes (Independent). 

 

As Queensland Canoeing moves forward into the future 

some of our many aims are to increase membership, 

increase income, achieve gender balance on the Board and 

technical committees, and delivery of service to affiliated 

clubs and our members. 

Jerry Dunn 

President 

Queensland Canoeing 
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Our Performance 
Olympic High Performance 
 

Canoe Sprint 

2014 World Championships (6th-10th Aug) 

Moscow, Russia 
The highlight of the 2014 World Championships was the 

unprecedented silver medal awarded to the newly formed 

K2 1000m crew of Ken Wallace and Lachlan Tame after only 

several months in the boat together. 

The team performed slightly below expectation across the 

board missing the mark with the K4 crew boats, however 

there were signs of promise, in particular from rising star 

Jordan Wood, who raced in non-Olympic events in his first 

senior team performance. 

Wallace once again showed he was a force to be reckoned 

with on the international stage, reaching the podium with 

K2M 1000m teammate Lachlan Tame in their first major 

international competition together. The duo missed out on 

the top spot by just 0.85 seconds. 

In another incredibly close final, Murray Stewart was only 0.5 

seconds away from the podium in the K1M 1000m, and only 

1.9 seconds away from a gold medal, finishing 5th overall.  

The Men's K4 1000m crew of David Smith, Tate Smith, 

Murray Stewart and Jacob Clear were unable to carry 

forward their previous successes, including a gold medal 

earlier in the year at the final World Cup, finishing 10th.  

Jo Brigden-Jones and Naomi Flood finished 7th in the K2W 

500m final, and were only 1.33 seconds from the podium. 

Alana Nicholls was 10th in the K1W 500, still below her best 

international form from 2011.  

Brigden-Jones also competed in the K1W 200m, coming 4th 

in the B-final. The K4W 500m squad consisting of Catherine 

McArthur, Alyce Burnett, Jaime Roberts and Bernadette 

Wallace also finished 4th in the B-final, which would have 

seen them qualify the quota in an Olympic year. The K2M 

200m pairing of Jesse Phillips and Stephen Bird were unable 

to progress to the A-final after a closely fought semi-final, 

subsequently finishing in 4th place in the B-final. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lachlan Tame also competed in the K1M 200m event, 

however was unable to progress to the final stage after 

finishing 7th in his semi-final. 

In the non-Olympic disciplines, Wallace defended his title as 

World Champion in the K1M 5000m race, also placing 9th in 

the K1M 500m race after recording one of the fastest times 

in the semi-final. 

On debut at the Senior Worlds, Michael Booth teamed up 

with Jordan Wood in the K2M 500m, reaching the B-final and 

finishing in 2nd.  

Curtis McGrath won Australia’s first medal of the event, 

winning gold in the V1 (TA) M 200m event, over a second 

faster than Jonathan Young (GBR). McGrath recorded a 

career best time of 48.596 seconds, the first time he’d gone 

under fifty seconds.  

 

Kara Kennedy also made the podium, finishing 2nd in the V1 

(A) W 200m final. Amanda Reynolds claimed bronze for 

Australia in the K1 (LTA) W 200 less than two seconds behind 

the gold medal winner Anne Dickins (GBR). 

Susan Seipel missed out on a medal by just over a second, 

finishing 6th in the K1 (TA) W 200m final, while Colin Sieders 

also finished 6th in the K1 (A) M 200m, under three seconds 

behind medal contention. Brock Ingram just missed out on a 

place in the final, but proceeded to win the B-final for the K1 

(LTA) M200.  
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2015 Sprint World Cups 

World Cup 1, 15-17th May – Montemor-O-Velho, 

Portugal 
Newcomer Jordan Wood joined Olympic gold medallists 

Murray Stewart, Jacob Clear and David Smith to win gold in 

the K4M 1000m. The four finished 1.196 seconds ahead of 

the next crew. Stewart also secured a silver medal in the 

K1M 1000m, missing gold by just under two seconds. Bill 

Bain also made the final, placing 8th. 

 
After their impressive silver medal on debut at the 2014 

World Championships, Ken Wallace and Lachlan Tame 

powered home to win the K2M 1000m, producing the third 

fastest time ever recorded. Young guns Jordan Wood and 

Riley Fitzsimmons earned a reputable 5th behind Wallace and 

Tame. 

The K4W 500m (Jo Brigden-Jones, Naomi Flood, Alana 

Nicholls, Bernadette Wallace) missed out on a medal by half 

a second, finishing fourth. The crew was only 1.980 seconds 

behind the winners. Brigden-Jones & Flood teamed up in the 

K2W 500 to claim 9th and Nicholls performed well to take 7th 

in the WK1 500m final. 

A large contingent of 200m paddlers utilised the World Cups 

as an opportunity to trial crews ahead of Worlds. Olympic 

pairing Jesse Phillips and Steve Bird finished 6th in the K2 

200m whilst Brodie Holmes and Callum Dunn teamed up to 

finish 11th. Holmes managed 13th in the K1 200m ahead of 

Dunn in 14th. 

In other results:  

K1W 500m – Catherine Macarthur – 9th 

K2W 200m – Bernadette Wallace and Catherine Macarthur 

– 7th  

K2W 500m – Alyce Burnett & Alyssa Bull – 11th  

K4W 500m – Catherine Macarthur/Alyce Burnett/Jaime 

Roberts/Alyssa Bull – 9th  

K4W 200m – Brigden-Jones/Flood/Nicholls/Wallace – 4th 

and Macarthur/Burnett/Roberts/Bull – 8th  

 

 

 

 

 

 

World Cup 2, 22-24th May – Duisburg, Germany 
The K2M 1000m team of Ken Wallace and Lachlan Tame 

again reached the podium, securing a silver medal amongst 

a large field. Wallace continued his dominance in the 5km 

event adding yet another gold as the reigning World 

Champion. He also claimed gold in the K1M 500m final, the 

event in which he won gold at the Beijing Olympics. 

 

The K4M 1000m boat, for this World Cup featuring David 

Smith, Jacob Clear, Murray Stewart and young gun Riley 

Fitzsimmons, placed 5th, just 0.236 seconds outside of medal 

contention.  

Two K4W 500m crews reached the A-final in Duisburg, with 

Jo Brigden-Jones, Alana Nicholls, Naomi Flood and 

Bernadette Wallace again just missing out on a medal, 

finishing 4th. Alyce Burnett, Catherine McArthur, Jamie 

Roberts and Alyssa Bull finished 7th in the same race. Two 

K2W 200m crews also made finals, with Brigden-Jones 

teaming up with Flood to make 6th and Bull and Burnett 

finishing just two places behind in 8th. 

Alana Nicholls placed 6th in a tightly raced K1W 500m event, 

with U23 athlete Catherine McArthur also racing the event 

and finishing 21st overall. 

In 200m racing, crews trialled new partners; Steve Bird 

paddled with Brodie Holmes finishing 18th whilst Jesse 

Phillips partnered with Callum Dunn to finish 8th in their 

semi-final. 

In other results: 

K4M 200m – Phillips/Bird/Dunn/Holmes – 9th 

K1M 200m – Brodie Holmes (24th), Steve Bird (7th in SF) 

K1M 1000m – Bill Bain – 14th 

K2M 1000m – Riley Fitzsimons and Jordan Wood – 10th K4W 

200m – Brigden Jones/Flood/Nicholls/Wallace – 6th  

K1M 500m – Jordan Wood – 7th  

K1M 5000m – Bill Bain – 6th 

K1W 5000m – Bernadette Wallace – 6th  
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World Cup 3, 29-31st May – Copenhagen, 
Denmark 
Ken Wallace showed his versatility over all distances in 

Copenhagen, winning three medals in one day in the final 

World Cup, which took his World Cup series medal tally to 

eight in total. Wallace won gold in the K1M 5000m, silver in 

the K2M 1000m with Lachlan Tame and a bronze in the 

K2M 200m, again teaming up with Tame.  

The K4M 1000m quad of David Smith, Riley Fitzsimmons, 

Jacob Clear and Jordan Wood snagged a silver medal in a 

tight race where only 0.164 seconds separated the top 

three crews. The K4 was only 0.084 seconds off the gold 

medal time. 

In the K2M 200m event, Steve Bird and Jesse Phillips finished 

6th, just over a second behind the winners from Canada and 

half a second behind teammates Wallace and Tame.  In the 

non-Olympic K4 200m final, Ken Wallace, Jesse Phillips, 

Lachlan Tame and Steve Bird finished in 3rd.  

In other results: 

K1M 1000m – Bill Bain – 13th  

K1M 200m – Bill Bain (9th in heat), Jordan Wood (9th in 

heat) 

K1M 500m – Jacob Clear (6th), Bill Bain (11th) 

K1M 5000m – Bill Bain – 14th 

K4M 200m – David Smith, Jacob Clear, Riley Fitzsimons & 

Jordan Wood – 9th  
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Junior & Under 23 Sprint World Championships – 

Szeged, Hungary (17-20th July 2014) 

In one of the most successful international performances for 

an Australian team in recent history, the 2014 Junior and 

U23 squad took home three medals, all in Olympic 

disciplines. 

 

Jordan Wood starred for the U23 team, claiming a silver 

medal in the K1M 1000m. His journey to the podium also 

saw him record the world’s 4th fastest time in the semi-final. 

Wood shows much promise as he progresses into the senior 

ranks. 

Another success for the U23 team came from Alyce Burnett, 

who claimed bronze in the K1W 500m. Burnett also 

competed in the closely fought K1W 200m race, finishing 9th. 

The Junior K4M 1000m team consisting of Jy Duffy, Sean 

Lohse, Jayden Ellis & Riley Fitzsimmons joined forces to bag 

a bronze. The four became the first Australian Junior K4 

team to medal in twenty-nine years. 

Duffy also narrowly missed out on a medal in the Junior K1M 

1000m, finishing 4th in an extremely tight race. The WK2 

pairing of Catherine McArthur and Alyssa Bull finished in 5th 

place, while Wood teamed up with Joel McKitterick, Bill Bain 

and Zac Ryan to finish 6th in the U23 K4M 1000m final. 

Also reaching finals were Simon McTavish and Riley 

Fitzsimmons in the Junior K2M 1000m (7th), Michael Booth 

and Glenn Rypp in the U23 K2M 1000m (8th), and the K4W 

5000m crew consisting of Rebecca Mann, Catherine 

McArthur, Alyssa Bull and Shannon Reynolds. 

Junior Olympic Hopes Team 
32 Australian teenagers contested the Olympic Hopes 

Regatta in Piestany, Slovakia in September. 

650 athletes from 27 nations participated in the three-day 

event, which is targeted at providing the world’s best f14-17 

year old sprint paddlers with a chance to race at an 

international competition. 

 
The Australian team was unable to win a medal, however 

there were good signs for the future of the sport on the 

international stage. 

The 1000m events were contested on the opening day of 

racing, with three Australian boats advancing to the finals. 

Ivanhoe Northcote Canoe Club paddler Oliver James was a 

clear standout finishing fourth in the U16 K1 1000 final. 

James recorded a time of 3:29.02 to miss out on a medal by 

less than a second. Bayswater teenager Luke Morton was 

equally impressive finishing ninth in the U15 K1 1000 final, 

14.34 seconds behind German Jacob Schopf who won in 

3:30.79. 

Queensland pair Caitlin Burt-Polai (Kawana Waters) 

and Siarn O’Neill (Sunshine Coast) combined to finish eighth 

in the U15/16 K2W 1000 final. The Australian pair recorded 

a time of 3:58.28 to trail Serbia by just over eleven seconds.  

A further three boats qualified for the 500m finals. Burt-

Polai and O’Neill continued their excellent combination to 

finish seventh in the U15/16 K2 500 final, less than six 

seconds off the gold. 

Australia continued to match it with the bigger European 

nations in the women’s events, with West Lakes pair Emma 

Jager and Sonia Ryan recording a PB (1:57.86) to finish ninth 

in the U17 K2 500 final.  

Jayde Bagnall (PaddleNSW) finished sixth in the U16 K1 500 

final. The National U16 Champion finished 5.117 seconds 

behind Hungarian Noemi Pupp who took home the gold in a 

time of 1:56.203. 

U16 Bayswater kayaker Yale Steinpreis progressed through 

to the U17 K1 200 final full of confidence after cruising 

through the preliminaries, to finish a respectable seventh as 

the highest placed non-European, just 2.780 seconds behind 

winner Szabina Piller in 40.48 seconds. 

Fourteen-year-old Monique Carbone (Bayswater) finished 

eighth in the U15 K1 200 final, recording a new PB of 43.69 

to trail race winner Lisa-Maria Gamsjager of Hungary by less 

than three seconds.  

Other notable performances included a fourth place semi-

final finish for U16 K1W 200 duo Siarn O’Neill and Ruby 

Backen (West Lakes); matching the men’s K4 performance of 

James, Morton, Anthony Carbone (Bayswater) and Shaun 

Osborn (Paddle NSW), who went within 0.2 seconds of a 

place in the final, finishing fourth in their semi-final. Shaun 

Osborn also featured with twin brother, Daniel Osborn, to 

finish fourth in their U17 K2 1000 semi-final. 

The K4 women’s crews of Monique Carbone, Erin 

Blanch (Currumbin Creek), Brittany Munro (Sydney 

Northern Beaches) and Sophie Pope (West Lakes) finished 

fifth in the K4W 500 semi-finals. 

  



 

35  

35 

Canoe Slalom 

2014 Senior Slalom World Cups  

World Cup 4 – Seu, Spain (1st – 3rd August, 2014) 
Jessica Fox won the gold medal in the C1W, finishing more 

than eight seconds faster than home favourite Nuria 

Vilarrubla (ESP) who finished in 2nd place. Rosalyn Lawrence 

won the bronze medal, while Alison Borrows also made the 

final, finishing 10th. 

In the K1M, Lucien Delfour finished in 5th, two seconds 

behind winner Samuel Hernanz (ESP) in what was an 

intensely close final. Jaxon Merritt finished 31st in the semi-

final, while Daniel Watkins finished 50th in his second race as 

a senior on the international stage. 

In the K1W, Fox uncharacteristically missed a gate and 

finished in 9th place behind home favourite Maialene 

Chourraut (ESP). Lawrence and Sarah Grant made the semi-

final and finished 16th and 17th respectively. 

In the C1M, Robin Jeffery (19th) and Ian Borrows (20th) both 

made the semi-final, while Christian Fabris missed out, 

finishing 35th in the heats.  The C2 men’s pairing of Robin 

Jeffery and Ethan Hodson missed out on the final, placing 

13th in the semi-final.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

World Cup 5 – Augsburg, Germany (15th – 17th 

August 2014) 

Sarah Grant stood out for the Australian team in the final 

World Cup of the season, with just one touch in the final 

sending her into 4th place in the K1W, 2.78 seconds behind 

the winner. Rosalyn Lawrence made the semi-final, finishing 

in 13th place, while Alison Borrows finished in 44th place in 

the heats.  

 

Rosalyn Lawrence medalled in the last World Cup of 2014, 

securing silver in the C1W, six seconds behind Mallory 

Franklin. Borrows finished 18th in the semi final. 

In the K1M, Lucien Delfour was 18th in a tight semi-final, only 

3.89 seconds off the leader. Jaxon Merritt finished 43rd and 

Will Forsythe was 52nd. 

Ian Borrows was only 6.4 seconds off the leader in the C1M 

semi-final, finishing 21st, while Christian Fabris was unlucky 

not to make the semi-final, finishing 31st in the heats. The C2 

pairing of Robin Jeffery and Ethan Hodson finished in 17th 

place.  
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2014 Senior Slalom World Championships 

– Deep Creek, USA (17th – 21st September 

2014) 
Jessica Fox created history by winning double gold in an 

unprecedented performance, retaining her 2013 C1W world 

title before going on to win her first K1W world title, claiming 

gold just 0.96 seconds ahead of Fiona Pennie (GBR).  

Lucien Delfour won the semi-final in a gold medal time 

before finishing 5th in the K1M final. Delfour was only two 

seconds out of medal contention, and only 3.36 seconds 

behind gold medal winner Boris Neveu (FRA).  

Ian Borrows achieved a personal best to finish 16th in the 

C1M.  

Grant and Lawrence both progressed to the women’s K1 

semi-final, where Grant had one of the fastest raw times, 

however eight seconds of penalties relegated her to 17th 

spot. Lawrence finished in 21st place. Lawrence was able to 

progress to the final in the C1W event, finishing in 5th place. 

Alison Borrows made the semi-final in the event, but missed 

out on a place in the final after finishing 16th.  

Both Forsythe and Merritt made the semi-final in the K1M, 

however were unable to progress any further; Forsythe 

finished 33rd while Merritt, who had shown his potential at 

the U23 Worlds earlier in the year, finished in 38th.   

Fabris just missed out on progressing to the Semi-Final in the 

C1M, finishing 31st in the heats. The C2 crew of Ethan Hodson 

and Robin Jeffery were also unable to progress past the 

heats, finishing in 31st place.  
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2015 Slalom World Cups  

World Cup 1, 19-21st June 2015 Prague, Czech 

Republic 
Reigning World Champion Jessica Fox finished in 2nd place in 

both the K1W and C1W at the first World Cup of the 2015 

season. The K1W race was tightly contested, with Fox 

missing out on the gold by just 0.13 seconds. Rosalyn 

Lawrence finished in 22nd place with Alison Borrows unable 

to progress past the heats stage.  

 
In the C1W, Fox finished 0.92 seconds behind home crowd 

favourite Katerina Hoskova (CZE), while Lawrence and 

Borrows finished 11th and 18th respectively. 

Robin Jeffery and Ian Borrows featured in the top-ten 

nations overall, however could only manage 19th and 23rd, 

whilst in the K1M, Lucien Delfour finished 26th and Jaxon 

Merritt 28th. 

World Cup 2, 26-28th June 2015, Krakow, Poland 

Jessica Fox again claimed a medal in the C1W, this time 

winning the gold and finishing more than three seconds 

ahead of Kimberly Woods (GBR). Noemie Fox made her 

senior team debut, claiming the second fastest time in the 

semi-final before finishing 6th in the final ahead of Rosalyn 

Lawrence in 9th. 

Lucien Delfour finished 7th in the K1M event, 3.18 seconds 

behind the winner. Jaxon Merritt (25th) and Daniel Watkins 

(31st) featured in the semi-final. 

All three C1M paddlers featured in the semi-final, with Robin 

Jeffery the best placed Australian in 17th. Ethan Hodson 

finished in 26th and Ian Borrows in 27th.  

In the K1W, World Champion Jessica Fox missed a gate and 

was relegated to 29th place, while Lawrence produced a 

clean run to finish 17th, 8.33 seconds behind the winner. 

World Cup 3, 4-6th July 2015, Liptovsky Mikulus, 

Slovakia 
Delfour, Meritt and Watkins claimed Australia’s first ever 

K1M teams medal winning gold in Slovakia, with the trio all 

executing clean runs and finishing 0.44 seconds ahead of 

Poland. 

 

In the individual K1M event, Delfour finished 19th and Meritt 

26th in the semi-final. 

 

 

 

Jessica Fox was controversially denied a gold in the C1W, 

with a retrospectively added 50-second penalty, seeing her 

relegated to 8th place. Noemie Fox narrowly missed out on 

the final, placing 12th in the semi. Making her senior debut, 

Georgia Rankin (WA) missed out on a place in the semi-final. 

Penalties again played a part for Jessica Fox in the K1W 

where she eventually finished in 7th place. Kate Eckhardt 

(TAS) and Noemie Fox made their senior debuts in K1W, 

however they were unable to get past the heats stage. 

In the C1M, junior athlete Tristan Carter made his senior 

team debut however was also unable to progress past the 

heats. Ian Borrows finished 20th in the semi-final.  

Under 23 & Junior Slalom Team 

2014 Junior & Under 23 Slalom World 

Championships, Foz do Iguacu, Brazil 
After a successful home World Championships in 2014, 

seventeen Australian Junior and U23 athletes ventured to 

Brazil for the 2015 event.  

 
Jessica Fox successfully retained her title as U23 World 

Champion in the Olympic K1W event, comfortably 

reclaiming the crown, 3.14 seconds ahead of the next 

competitor.  Fox finished 5th in the C1W final and also added 

a silver in the K1W teams event along with Alison Borrows 

and Georgia Rankin. After a silver medal in the K1W at the 

2014 Junior World Championships in Penrith, Kate Eckhardt 

this time secured a bronze in the Junior C1W event and 

joined Noemie Fox and Georgina Collin for a bronze in the 

Junior K1W Team event.  

Noemie Fox claimed 6th in the Junior C1W whilst Alison 

Borrows placed 7th in the U23 C1W. Junior C2 pairing Kaspar 

and Kristian Fiebig were 9th in their international debut. 

Other results included: Borrows (U23 K1W - 11th), Rankin 

(U23 C1W - 12th), Tristan Carter (Junior C1M - 13th), Tim 

Anderson (U23 K1M - 16th), Georgina Collin (Junior K1W - 

20th), Demelza Wall (Junior C1W – 22nd), Daniel Watkins 

(U23 C1M - 18th), and Kate Eckhardt (Junior K1W - 18th). 

 

Richard Fox 

National Performance Director 

Australian Canoeing Ltd. 
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Canoe Polo 

2014/2015 was a busy year for Canoe Polo, a year of 

progress and development but also presenting some 

challenges.  

The 2014 ICF Canoe Polo World Championships held in 

Thury-Harcourt, France, showed just how big Canoe Polo is. 

The weeklong competition attracted 10,000 spectators each 

day, and an estimated 30,000 at the finals. The event was 

televised to an audience of six million. In the lead up 

competitions, our senior men competed in the European 

Cup Series at Groningen, Netherlands and in the Breizhcup, 

Acigne, France, achieving fourth and second positions 

respectively, proving the strength of our team. We achieved 

thirteenth position at the World Championships— a 

disappointing result given the successes in the lead up 

competitions and previous results. However, putting it in 

perspective, twenty-four countries competed, and 

considering the much larger international following, 

particularly in Europe, being ranked thirteenth in the world 

is not a discredit. For the first time (since the Championships 

began in 1994) Australia did not enter a Senior Women’s 

team. Retirements, high costs, and a limited pool of 

upcoming players had a collective impact on the team and 

will provide a challenge for 2016. The 2016 championships 

will be in Italy. 

Closer to home, the Australian and the Oceania 

Championships, both held at Nagambie, Victoria were a 

resounding success. Thirty-five teams from the ACT, NSW, 

QLD, SA, VIC, WA, including a team from New Zealand and 

one from our sponsor CPS of Taiwan, competed in the 

Australian Championships. New Zealand and Australia 

fielded twenty teams at Oceania continuing the rivalry 

across the Tasman. The Australian women took an upset 

goal in a tense final; New Zealand winning the other 

categories (New Zealand did not compete in the U15 and 

Over 30 categories). The Julian Carter trophy returned to  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

their shores. The Nagambie Lakes Regatta Centre, set up 

with two playing fields, full-length referee walkways, and a 

management centre, was fantastic. The Victorian Canoe Polo 

Organising Committee has set a new benchmark for services 

and facilities to provide comfort and safety for players, 

officials and spectators. A special thank you to our sponsors, 

the Victorian Government, Canoeing Victoria, Jayco, 

Polomania and CPS. The 2016 Australian Canoe Polo 

Championships will be held at the Gold Coast, Queensland.  

There is a lot happening at the Junior level. The growth and 

competitiveness of the Microjunior and Junior categories 

continued at the 2015 Australian Championships. At U13, 

the Micros fielded five teams from ACT, QLD, SA and VIC, 

while the U18 Juniors fielded seven teams from ACT, QLD, 

SA and VIC. This shows excellent participation that bodes 

well for the sport. Developing from an idea at Oceania, an 

U18 Youth Development Tour will go to New Zealand in 

September 2015. The tour embraces lead-up training and 

competitions in Auckland, Palmerston North, and Napier. It 

concludes with Australia competing in the New Zealand 

Inter-regional Championships in Wellington. 

Two development camps held during the year provided first 

class practical and theoretical grounding in all aspects of the 

sport from top coaches and players. Twenty-nine players 

from QLD and ACT attend a two-day camp in Queensland led 

by Craig Hutchinson, Jay Burgess, Mikey Wilson and Donald 

Leigh.  The second competition was held in Victoria; Matt 

Moore led the two-day camp at Essendon. Further camps 

are planned for 2015/16.  

 

At the club level John Yacoub, Donald Leigh, Andrew Waters, 

Louise Gates and Duncan Cochrane are generating 

enthusiasm with their organisation and engagement with 

the juniors. In Brisbane, Ambrose Treacy College has 

established a six-week Canoe Polo program for students, led  
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by Dave Peters at the Brothers Canoe Club, with over fifty 

students in grades 4–8 now enjoying Canoe Polo as part of 

the school’s physical education program. 

In another exciting development, Geelong Canoe Club in 

Victoria has won scholarships from the Barwon Sports 

Academy. The scholarships provide specialist coaching for 

six Juniors in strength and conditioning, biomechanics, 

performance and other areas of athlete development. This 

is a tremendous achievement and an indication of the 

increased recognition that Canoe Polo is gaining. It will be 

exciting to follow the development of these players and the 

impact on their playing careers. 

People continue to make the difference. Carolyn Cochrane 

established the referee accreditation scheme, rolled out at 

the Australian Championships, grading referees as level A, B 

or C and awarding a grey, orange or green referee’s shirt. 

Referees wear the shirts whenever refereeing to give players 

confidence that the game is in control of a trained and 

competent referee.  

Anton Holmes was recognised for his considerable 

contributions to the sport with an Australian Canoeing 

Services to Canoeing Award. Anton has represented 

Australia fifteen times since 2000 -six times at ICF 

Championships, six at Oceania, and three at the World 

Games, more than any other player. With fifteen years on 

local and national Canoe Polo Committees and five as Chair 

of the Canoe Polo Technical Committee, his award is well 

deserved.  

Matt Moore continues to champion the rise of Interclub 

Competitions and the growth of Canoe Polo at the club level. 

Over the past year or so he has worked with groups in SA, 

NSW and QLD, with particular success in Victoria.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The year saw Rowan Holt leave the Technical Committee to 

follow other interests. Rowan created, edited and issued 

Spike’s Report, an anticipated and important 

communication for the Canoe Polo community. We wish him 

every success in his new endeavours. Behind the scenes, 

Sam Lyons has reshaped the Canoe Polo pages of the AC 

website. The new look and feel is already proving an 

important resource. 

In a first for Canoe Polo, we are pleased to welcome Bobby 

Bajram as an ambassador for Canoe Polo. Many will recall 

meeting Bobby at Nagambie in April. He gave an inspiring 

speech to players and parents at the camp site. Bobby has a 

national profile in television and newspapers that will take 

Canoe Polo to a wider audience. An athlete with a disability, 

Bobby is currently training to climb Mt Everest. We wish him 

every success (and maybe a mention of Canoe Polo at the 

summit!). 

It has been a busy year, with many things achieved and new 

things started. It does not happen by chance. Many thanks 

to the state committees, volunteers, parents, players, 

coaches and referees for helping with growing and guiding a 

great sport. I look forward to continued success in 2015/16 

as Canoe Polo continues to provide opportunities for 

involvement, growth, and competition. 

Ian Beasley 

Chair  

Canoe Polo Technical Committee 
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Canoe Slalom 

The past year has been an extremely interesting one for 

Canoe Slalom with a number of events occurring that have 

challenged our discipline. 

The Australian National Schools Wildwater Championships 

and Australian National Slalom Championships were hosted 

this year by Victoria, at the picturesque Eildon site. Over 100 

athletes participated in the National Schools competition 

with representation from thirty-four different schools. It was 

pleasing to see over half those participating were Juniors, 

which augurs well for our future, and approximately 40% 

were female. We would like to congratulate the individual 

Champions from the event: 

 Senior Female Champion – Isabella Choate; 

 Senior Male Champion – Tristan Carter; 

 Junior Female Champion – Georgie Tonkin and Kira 

Wall (equal points); 

 Junior Male Champion – Louis Richardson; 

 Schools Champion – Ivanhoe Grammar; and 

 Small Schools Champion – Ivanhoe Girls’ 

Grammar. 

 

A ‘welcome’ BBQ dinner, to promote the coming together of 

the paddling community from across Australia and New 

Zealand, had 140 adults and children attend. 126 athletes 

went on to participate in the Australian National Slalom 

Championships, two-thirds of whom were eighteen years 

and under. Given the majority of the athletes competing 

were from the host state, Victoria, one of the challenges we 

face in the future is how to encourage all athletes to 

participate in this event.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We would like to congratulate: 

 C1M Champion – Christian Fabris; 

 K1W Champion – Jessica Fox; 

 K1M Champion – Al Anderson; 

 C1W Champion – Ros Lawrence; and 

 C2M Champion – Robin Jeffrey/Benjamin Pope.  

 

Again the event organisers were very successful in ensuring 

the event had a social side to balance the competitive 

aspects with an event dinner attended by 131 people.  

We would like to congratulate the key organising committee 

for this Championship: Mike Lau Gooey, Kate Slatter, Jenny 

Lau and Chris Wharton with the assistance of Dean Tonkin, 

Leanne McLaughlan and Stuart McConnellin for logistics and 

volunteer support. This team was ably supported 

throughout the competition by a large number of volunteers 

to deliver a very successful event. 

We would especially like to congratulate the event 

organisers, athletes and volunteer officials for their 

flexibility, due to predicted ‘extreme’ fire conditions, with 

one of the days of the Schools competition rescheduled to 

another day.  
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It has been pleasing to see the opportunities arising for the 

discipline with the continually improving state of Australian 

Canoeing and as a result of the integration of the High 

Performance stream into the organisation. Many of our 

clubs have taken the opportunity offered by the AC National 

Pathways Manager, Melissa Hopwood, to seek accreditation 

as a Training Centre offering elite development programs for 

athletes in slalom. We note with interest the strong level of 

interest in the sport occurring across the various states, and 

through many clubs, with a number of innovative programs 

and touring initiatives occurring throughout the year. 

Melissa has also been a key driver to launching an AC 

Canoeing Coach Accreditation Program for the sport. The 

Committee look forward to the appointment, by AC, of a 

National Coaching and Officiating Coordinator to work 

specifically on such coaching and officiating accreditation 

schemes and further enhance our profile in Australia. One of 

the challenges we face as a sport is to support future 

athletes and officials to gain the skills and experience they 

need, and this role should help provide a framework for this 

to occur. 

It is important to acknowledge recognition by the ICF, of the 

skill and experience of a number of our officials: Sue Natoli, 

a member of the International Canoe Slalom Technical 

Committee, and Chief Judge/Assistant Chief Judge at a 

number of World Championship and World Cup events, as 

well as Christine Burrows, Marion Ewing and Graeme Caudry 

who have been selected to officiate at the International 

level.   

On behalf of the Slalom Technical Committee I would like to 

extend our congratulations to the athletes that have 

participated at local, state, national and international level 

and our thanks go to the many behind the scenes that have 

helped them achieve their goals. We would also like to thank 

those that have taken on roles as either a Team Selector, 

Team Manager, Coach or support person throughout the 

course of the year. These roles are essential and allow our 

athletes to perform to the best of their ability. 

The coming year will bring another ‘first’ for our discipline 

with Tasmania and Western Australia jointly hosting the 

Australian National Schools Wildwater Championship and 

National Slalom Championship in January 2016 and we look 

forward to everyone joining them there. 

Peter Grant 

Chair 

Canoe Slalom Technical Committee 
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Canoe Sprint 

Overview 
The 2014/15 competitive season started less than two years 

out from the Rio Olympics and with the AC high performance 

program (HP) structural changes implemented at the end of 

the 2012 Olympiad, a period of consistency and 

consolidation has occurred with the delivery of the national 

sprint racing program, and with the respective roles and 

functions of the HP team and the Australian Canoe Sprint 

Race Technical Committee (the Committee).  

 

Events and Venues 
In 2014/15, as with the previous twelve months, the 

Committee delivered three events for the national event 

program being the Grand Prix (GP) Series, National 

Championships and associated selection events. 

 

Regattas were held at South Australia and New South Wales 

and the host state officials can be proud of the standard of 

the events they delivered. We were also pleased to be able 

to partner with our stand-up paddleboard (SUP) colleagues 

in the conduct of their program and National 

Championships. From our perspective they not only fill some 

necessary time slots as our competitors ‘break’ between 

events, but add an additional dimension and flavour to our 

sport whilst utilising the same venues and equipment, which 

results in cost and manpower efficiency for our respective 

disciplines.  

An outstanding issue remains the presences of aquatic 

plants at the premier sprint venue – Sydney International 

Regatta Centre (SIRC). Whilst a financial commitment has 

been made to ‘remediate’ the aquatic plant issue through 

the assistance of the NSW Government, this has to date 

failed to eventuate and the Committee has made a 

recommendation to the AC Board that we support a decision 

NOT to race at the SIRC venue during the 2015/16 racing 

season. With the conduct of the ICF Oceania Championships, 

Olympic qualification and selection events occurring during 

this season, the decision sends a clear message that the 

venue, in its current condition, no longer remains a suitable 

international standard venue upon which such important 

events can be conducted. 

As a result, Champion Lakes in Western Australia will host 

the Australian Championships and final Olympic selection, 

with Westlakes in South Australia hosting the initial Grand 

Prix event, first Olympic selection event and ICF Oceania 

Championships for 2015/16.  

 

 

 

During the season we again utilised the RP7 management 

system.  A big thank you to Tracey Tapscott and Shirley 

Higgins for running the RP7 system. They were on a steep 

learning curve taking on such a task and accomplished it 

admirably. I look forward to their continued involvement in 

this task which requires thorough knowledge and efficiency 

from beginning to end of the entry and racing process.  

Officials Development 
Whilst event delivery remains the core business of the 

Committee, South Australia, New South Wales, Queensland 

and now Western Australia have been actively recruiting 

new officials to conduct their state, and if required national 

regatta events. The competition program requires that we 

have a succession plan for the ongoing development of 

officials and ultimately transition of long serving race 

officials. Thanks go to Mark O’Brien, Jeremy Dunn and Laura 

White for their efforts in promoting and developing officials 

in their respective states. 

 

South Australia in particular is to be congratulated on the 

number of new officials assisting in the delivery of their 

home based events with only a small number of 

internationally/nationally accredited officials required to 

travel to South Australia to assist in overseeing the delivery 

of the respective regattas. My thanks go to Canoe SA and 

their committed group of Sprint officials for their ongoing 

support and involvement in the delivery of the national 

regatta program, and to those officials who do give of their 

time and money to travel and officiate at regattas. 

The Committee intends to seek AC assistance to have the 

official’s course reviewed and reaccredited in due course 

and placed on the AC website. There are suitably accredited 

and experienced officials in each state and it is important 

they are delivering a standard course in a consistent manner. 

At the GP in NSW this year, we held an ACSRTC dinner, where 

we recognised the long and distinguished service of a 

number of our officials who have served Australian Sprint 

race canoeing in excess of fifteen years at national level.  

Those acknowledged included: Gerry Brayne (VIC); Jeremy 

Dunn (QLD); Martin Finn (SA); Lorraine Harper Horak (NSW); 

Ian Hume (SA); Greg Kaeding (WA); Jenny Mayne (VIC); 

Jonathan Mayne (VIC); Joan Morison (NSW); Jim Murphy 

(SA); John Newton (QLD); Mark O’Brien (SA); Col Peters 

(VIC); Derek Stevens (SA); Fran White (NSW); Laura White 
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(NSW); Tony White (NSW) and ICF official Fred Bahrami 

(NSW).  

It was however later in the year that we also acknowledged 

the passing of officials Joan and Bruce Morison. Both Joan 

and Bruce selflessly and capably served Sprint canoeing, and 

indeed canoeing in Australia, for in excess of fifty years. 

Athlete Performance and Selection 
AC selected five representative Sprint teams to represent 

our sport overseas, and their success is reported in the HP 

report.   

 

The Committee has participated in the performance aspects 

of the process with involvement in selection policy 

development, representation on the various selection 

panels as selectors, or as officials or coaches.  

Committee Membership  
The Committee for the year were Greg Kaeding (Chair); 

Dasha Kopecek; Ian Hume; Peter Gargiulo; Laura White and 

Jeremy Norton. 

 
In addition, the NPD and a representative of the AC Board 

and the respective Head Coaches for men and women 

attend in their capacity as ex-officio members. 

An issue arising as we move rapidly into the 2017-2020 

Olympic cycle is a review of the national regatta series 

program, venues and events, venue standards, 

accreditation, utilisation and ongoing development and 

maintenance to international standards.  

Clearly accountability, responsibility and decision making for 

a successful HP program rests with the HP staff, however it 

is appropriate that the Committee provide a forum and 

process for members to reflect their own thoughts, 

commentary and opinion within an appropriate feedback 

framework.  

Conclusion: 
In conclusion, I would like to particularly acknowledge the 

work of the competition organising sub-committee 

members. Committed planning, scheduling and budgeting 

for the national event program with the assistance of AC is 

required to ensure a quality competition framework with an 

on time, on budget competition series delivered.  

 

It has also been reassuring to have both the financial and 

human resource assistance of AC staff to support the 

conduct of the national event program and to that end I 

particularly thank HP Manager Lauren Fitzsimons and HP 

Coordinator Asha Vekataya.   

Thanks also to other AC staff for their discussions, input and 

professional liaison with our Committee members and to 

Sam Lyons, ICT Coordinator for his membership support with 

entries. Thanks to Mary Macaluso and the other office 

administration staff for their assistance and patience with 

our volunteer team. My personal thanks go to the AC Board 

and CEO Greg Doyle for their support. 

Finally, I would like to give my personal thanks and 

recognition for the efforts and commitment of the 

Committee members. 

GREG KAEDING 

Chair 

Canoe Sprint Race Technical Committee 
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Canoe Marathon 

Roles and responsibilities were identified for each member 

of the Australian Canoe Marathon Racing Technical 

Committee to ensure persons with the appropriate skill sets 

filled positions on the ACMRTC. 

The roles that were identified are: 

 Chair; 

 Athlete and Coach Development; 

 Official and Volunteer Development; 

 Event and Technical Director; 

 Safety Technical Official; 

 State Liaison Coordinator; and 

 Secretary (non-voting). 

 

Following nominations the following were appointed to the 

roles: 

 

 Chair – Jerry Dunn; 

 Athlete and Coach Development – Margi Bohm; 

 Official and Volunteer Development – Tom 

Balaam; 

 Event and Technical Director – Bob Turner; 

 Safety Technical Official – Joe Alia; and  

 Secretary (non voting) – Connie Todaro. 

 

The role of State Liaison Coordinator was discontinued. 

Each of the persons charged with the roles does have the 

ability to seek others to assist in achieving the necessary 

objectives.  

This year the ACMRTC decided to split the Selection Policy 

into numerous policies specific to the age classification.  It 

meant that the document was easier to read and decipher. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2014 ICF World Canoe Marathon 

Championships 
The ICF Canoe Marathon World Championships moved from 

Europe to the Oklahoma River, Oklahoma City, United States 

of America (USA). 

 

The team included Masters competing in the World Cup and 

the rest of the team competing in the World Championships. 

 

Logistics at these international events, especially for boats, 

is a major part of the Team Manager’s duties. The tour to the 

USA was no different. In Europe access to boats is usually not 

a problem however outside of Europe it is much more 

difficult.  A container of athlete’s boats was organised and 

shipped to the USA. 

Results achieved by Australians: 

Masters World Cup 

C1 Men 40 – 44  (18.75km) 

2nd Rain Metsoja 
 

K1 Men 40 – 44  (22.5km) 

1st Michael Leverett 

 

K1 Men 50 – 54  (22.5km) 

2nd Darren Lee 

 

K2 Men 50 – 54  (22.5km) 

2nd Darren Lee/Johan Dahl (Sweden) 

 

K1 Men 55 – 59  (18.75km) 

1st Mark Lawson 

 

K2 Men 55 – 59  (18.75km) 

2nd Mark Lawson/Darryl Bohm (Canada) 
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K1 Men 70+  (18.75km) 

3rd  Lyle Mead 

 

K2 Women 45 – 49  (18.75km) 

3rd Ann Lloyd-Green/Nancy Bowers (USA) 

 

K1 Women 50 – 54  (18.75km) 

1st Margi Bohm 

2nd Elizabeth Pratt 

K2 Women 50 – 54  (18.75km) 

1st Margi Bohm/Hilde Lapere (South Africa) 

 

K1 Women 60 – 64 (18.75km) 

1st Dianne Chellew 

 

K2 Women 60 – 64  (18.75km) 

1st Dianne Chellew/Margaret Ryall-Egan 

 

K1 Women 65 – 69 (15km) 

1st Ann Lloyd-Green 

 

World Championships 
K1 Junior Men  (22.5km) 
17th Oliver James 
19th Edward Lovick 

 

K2 Junior Men  (22.5km) 

15th Ben Rake/Alexander Neilson 

 

K1 Junior Women  (18.75km) 

11th Kayla Whinray 

 

K1 Under 23 Men  (26.25km) 

15th Casey Haynes 

22nd Logan Dutton 

 

K1 Under 23 Women  (22.5km) 

9th Marlena Ahrens 

11th Penelope Young 

 

C1 Senior Men  (26.25km) 

10th Rain Metsoja 

 

K1 Senior Men  (30km) 

17th Michael Leverett 

 

K1 Senior Women  (26.25km) 

5th Kate Leverett 

 

K2 Senior Women  (26.25km) 

15th Brea Roadley/Tess Watson 

2015 Australian Canoe Marathon 

Championships 
The team effort from both the Burley Griffin Canoe Club and 

PaddleNSW Marathon Committee ensured a very well 

coordinated and organised championship. 

 

The course was in the sheltered waters of the Molonglo 

River with the portage through the park in front of the Burley 

Griffin Canoe Club sheds. 

 

The RP7 program used in Canoe Sprint racing proved to be 

equally valuable at the Canoe Marathon championships. 

Results were posted fairly quickly and were made accessible 

on the internet to those at the venue and around Australia. 

 

2015 Emerging Team Tour to South Africa 

A small team toured South Africa in late May to early June 

2015.  Those selected to the Emerging Team are: 

 

 Under 23 Women’s K1 - Bronwyn Martin (WA); 

 Under 23 Women’s K1 - Brea Roadley (VIC); 

 Junior Women’s K1 - Brigitte Blood (VIC); and 

 Under 23 Men’s K1 (position on team declined) - 

Logan Dutton (VIC) 

 

The Team was lead by Margi Bohm and Lynwen Birch. 

Prior to departing the team met in Canberra for a short camp 

covering topics of injury prevention, on water lactate, peak 

heart rate testing, recovery strategies, on water technique 

using force curves and video, and time trials. 

The team based themselves at the Natal Canoe Club before 

competing in the Kwa-Zulu Natal State Championships on 

the 23rd and 24th of May, 2015, in Pietermaritzburg.  This is 

the course for the 2016 ICF Canoe Marathon World Cup and 

the 2017 ICF Canoe Marathon World Championships.  

The team had access to all facilities at the Natal Canoe Club, 

including the gym.  The time in South Africa was spent 

learning about different training approaches including 

weights training and technique plus portage 

techniques.  Team members also met and trained with 

several of South Africa's top paddlers including Andy Birckett 

and Bridget Hartley.   

Our thanks are extended to all Natal Canoe Club and 

Wensleydale Lodge staff for their hospitality and helpfulness 

during the tour. 
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Results Achieved: 

Junior Women K1 

3rd  Brigitte Blood 

 

K2 Junior Women K2 

3rd Brigitte Blood/Christie Mackenzie (South Africa) 

K1 Women Under 23  

3rd Brea Roadley 

 

K2 Women Under 23  

2nd  Brea Roadley/Julia Trodd (South Africa) 

It was then into further training before the South African 

National Championships from the 5-7 June 2015.  A trip to 

Hluhluwe-Imfolozi Game Reserve was squeezed in between 

training sessions. 

Results Achieved 

K1 Women Under 23 

4th  Brea Roadley 

5th Bronwyn Martin 

 

K2 Women Senior 

8th  Bronwyn Martin/Lynwen Birch 

 

K2 Women Under 23 

3rd Brea Roadley/Kayla De Beer (South Africa) 

 

Other 
Many thanks to Tom Balaam, Tom Hirrschoff, Connie 

Todaro, Terry Poole and Martin Finn for their valuable 

assistance throughout the year. Joe Alia and Don Campbell 

assisted these members of the ACMRTC. 

Jerry Dunn 

Chair 

Australian Canoe Marathon Racing Technical Committee 
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Freestyle 

2014/15 has been a busy year for the Canoe Freestyle 

Technical Committee.  The Committee has been heavily 

involved with both Australian Canoeing and PaddleNSW 

(PNSW) in introducing younger paddlers to our sport.  

Our scholarship program for six local girls has been 

extremely successful, and we have retained three out of six 

beginner paddlers all of whom are able to roll and 

confidently paddle the bottom drop at Penrith Whitewater 

Stadium, and one can successfully paddle the whole course.  

The Committee would like to thank Penrith Whitewater 

Stadium management for their support. 

We have introduced various strategies to encourage Junior 

participation in our sport. One method which has proved 

successful is the introduction of a social category to our Mini 

Competitions and Freestyle Nationals.  We have also trialled 

an innovative new Aussie Rules scoring system for beginner 

and less confident paddlers, allowing them to gain 

confidence and participate in Freestyle competition on a less 

technical wave.  

Junior paddlers participating in Penrith Whitewater Stadium 

lessons are also now permitted to enter the social category 

as part of their Freestyle Kayak lessons. Whilst this is not 

creating revenue for our competitions, the amount of 

Juniors participating in our competitions is steadily 

increasing. Our February Mini Competition, usually in a quiet 

period, had our three regular PNSW Juniors but also had nine 

new social category Juniors including one of our scholarship 

girls. 

In April we held the 2015 National Freestyle Competition, 

which was also a selection event for the World 

Championships. We also had the benefit of visiting current 

Freestyle World Champion Claire O’Hara, who delivered 

some sage advice to our Junior and Senior athletes. It was 

heartening to see a return of our Junior Ladies K1 event and 

our new social category continues to evolve. 

2015 National Freestyle Winners are as 

follows: 

 C1 & Open C1 - Jez Jezz 

 K1 Senior Ladies - Sue Robb 

 K1 Junior Ladies - Sienna Grady 

 K1 Senior Men - Morgan James 

 K1 Junior Men - Rowan Kaar 

 Social Category Junior K1 - Sam Nightingale  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Two Cranebrook High School Students Michaela Dealtry and Suresa Enese 

receive their Scholarship Certificates at their School Assembly from Head 

Coach Jez Jezz with athletes Gilbert Coombes and Rowan Kaar. 

 

 

This year Australia will be sending one of its largest teams in 

a number of years to the ICF Freestyle World Championships 

in Ottawa, Canada 30 August – 5 September 2015. The 

National competitions have enabled athletes to gain 

competition and judging experience as well as practice 

moves on wave features. This aspect was particularly 

important this year as the World Championships are being 

held on Garbarator, a powerful wave on the Ottawa River, 

Canada. A large team has been selected to attend, including 

Senior and Junior women and two C1 paddlers. 
 

For a number of these athletes both Senior and Junior it will 

be their first foray into International competition and they 

will gain valuable international experience for their efforts. 

We wish them luck and congratulate them in making the 

team and representing their country.   

In the next twelve months the Technical Committee will seek 

to further implement strategies to develop the growth of 

Freestyle Kayaking in Australia, continue to focus on Junior 

development, and have a successful ICF World 

Championship Tour in Ottawa, Canada. 

I look forward to continuing success in the next twelve 

months and I would also like to thank the Australian 

Technical Committee members for their work in organising 

the competitions, the development and administration of 

policy and the preparation of the 2015 Australian Freestyle 

Team. Additionally I would like to acknowledge the 

assistance of the many friends and family of our freestyle 

paddlers who have assisted in growing a sport which is fun 

and dynamic. 

I see a strong future for Freestyle Kayaking in Australia and I 

am looking forward to some great Australian Freestyle 

Kayaking in 2016. 

Jez Jezz 

Chair 

Freestyle Kayaking Technical Committee 
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Ocean Racing 
The main activities of the Australian Canoeing Ocean Racing 

Technical Committee (The Committee) have been in relation 

to the second Australian Ocean Racing Championships and 

selecting a team for the 2015 World Championships to be 

held in Tahiti. 

 

It was decided that the best selection events for the World 

Championship team would be to use existing major races on 

the calendar. The Doctor in WA and the 20 Beaches in NSW 

were chosen with the leading paddler in each class in each 

race gaining the first nomination with one paddler in each 

category selected based on a combination of their results. 

The system worked well and a very strong team was 

selected.  

 

As the actual event took place in the 2015-2016 period the 

results will be in next year’s report.  

 

After the success of the Doctor as the first Australian Ocean 

Racing selection race the National Championships were held 

in conjunction with the 20 Beaches in December 2014. 

 

Brett Greenwood and his team did a very good job of 

organising a great race under difficult conditions. The format 

of the race had to be changed drastically due to dangerous 

surf conditions closing bathing on most of the twenty 

beaches. The changed format of two laps from Station Beach 

out to Barrenjoey Point with a downwind leg to Lion Island 

worked out very well under the circumstances. 

 

The first woman in was Rachel Clarke followed by Wendy 

Reyntjes and third was Jamie Brinkworth who is still an 

Under 23 athlete. 

 

The men’s race was a contest between the old guard of Clint 

Robinson and Tim Jacobs against the “youngster” Murray 

Stewart.  In the end Murray got away on the final downwind 

leg and finished ahead of his coach Tim Jacobs and fellow 

Olympic Gold Medallist, Clint Robinson.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

The results were as follows: 

 

Open Men 

1. Murray Stewart 

2. Tim Jacobs 

3. Clint Robinson 

 

Open Women 

1. Rachel Clarke 

2. Wendy Rejntjes 

3. Jamie Brinkworth 

 

The issues to be addressed in the coming year are: 

 

1. A unified national approach to Ocean Racing; 

2. National Safety Standards; 

3. Ocean Racing Coaching Courses; 

4. Ocean Racing Administrators Qualifications; 

5. Future International Championships; 

6. A national numbering system; 

7. Improved communications with paddlers; and 

8. Improved funding for National Teams. 

 

Committee members: Robbie Stewart (Chair), Tim Hookins, 

Julie Jenkinson, Rob Jenkinson, Mike Mills-Thom, Mark 

Forbes (AOCRA), ex-officio Greg Doyle, and James Rennell. 

 

 

Robbie Stewart 

Chair 

Australian Ocean Racing Technical Committee 
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Wildwater 

Wildwater has had a busy and exciting last twelve months.  

We have had the National Championships in Tasmania last 

October followed by a well-attended National Schools 

Wildwater Championships over the Christmas period. A very 

full international calendar started with recent senior World 

Championships and World Cups in Europe followed by Junior 

and Under 23 World Championships in the USA where we 

sent one of our largest teams overseas for many years. 

 

On the domestic front Wildwater races are being organised 

on a regular basis in Victoria and are being well attended by 

many paddlers - both old hands and newer recruits.  In 

particular the sprint format is becoming very popular as 

many athletes realise that this ties in well with flatwater 

sprint events and provides diversity in their paddling so as to 

not become stale in only concentrating on one discipline. 

 

At our National Championships in Tasmania in October, 

Matthew French won his third National Classic 

Championships in a row, narrowly defeating Sprint specialist 

Robert McIntyre by 1.9 seconds.  In the Sprint McIntyre took 

his third consecutive title making it four titles overall.  In the 

women's Kristy Packham took the Classic and Sprint double, 

which makes three consecutive double titles for her. 

 

In the Men’s Under 23s Tom Mountney took the Classic and 

Sprint double. In the Junior Men’s Luis Wilson won the 

Classic while Rohan Borojevic won the Sprint.  In the Junior 

Women’s Georgie Tonkin won the Classic and Kate Eckhardt 

won the sprint. 

 

In early January we saw a big turn out of athletes competing 

at the National Wildwater Schools championships at Eildon 

which also doubled as further selection races for our Junior 

and Under 23 Australian team to contest the World 

Championships in North Carolina, USA.  It was great to see a 

number of young athletes qualify for this team, meaning that 

we would be taking one of the largest touring teams 

overseas for a great many years. 

 

Our senior team consisted of the McIntyre brothers Alex and 

Robert along with Kristy Packham and Dita Pahl.  Alex and 

Robert had their best-ever international season yet with 

some outstanding results on this Senior tour.  Robert started 

out with a 6th place in the final of the final round of the Euro 

Sprint race in Slovenia.  He went on to gain two 4th place 

finishes in the two World Cup Sprint races, only missing the 

bronze medal by the narrowest of margins in both instances. 

He then went on to finish 6th in the final of the World 

Championships Sprint race in Vienna.  Alex also had an  

 
 

outstanding tour finishing 15th in the final of the Euro Cup 

Sprint race followed by a 5th and an 11th place in the final 

of the two World Cup Sprint races.  In the World 

Championships he had a very credible first run putting him 

in 10th place but unfortunately due to being checked by a 

number of stoppers in his second run was unable to secure 

a finals birth and finished back in 29th position. 

 

Kristy Packham started her international campaign in the 

first World Cup Sprint in Slovenia with an 11th place in the 

final.  This was followed up with another 11th place in the 

final of the second World Cup Sprint on the Mur River in 

Austria.  At the World Championships in Vienna Kristy was 

positioned 20th after the first run however in her second run 

she was checked by some stoppers and finished up 29th 

overall in the competition. 

 

This was Dita Pahl's first tour for Wildwater being known 

more for her Slalom paddling. She started her campaign at 

the second World Cup sprint on the Mur river in Austria and 

was just outside the final of twelve, finishing in 13th place. 

Dita raced the World Cup classic race on the Mur and 

finished 9th. At the World Championships in Vienna Dita was 

in 18th position after the first run but like Kristy had some 

issues with some of the many stoppers on the course and 

finished up 28th overall. 

 

The next major event on the calendar was the recent tour to 

the USA for the Junior and under 23 World Wildwater 

Championship that was held on the Nantahala river in North 

Carolina.  This tour saw the largest number of athletes and 

supporters that has been on a tour for many years.  We had 

a number of younger members on the tour who were only 

fifteen and sixteen, being Lachlan Bassett, Sam Grant and 

Demi O'Brien, all of whom have gained valuable experience 

and will have another opportunity in two years time to 

contest the next Junior World Championships. 

 

In the Juniors Lachlan Bassett and Sam Grant demonstrated 

that they will be ones to watch in the future when they 

stepped up to contest the C2 races against much bigger and 

older athletes.  The boys did well finishing fifth in the Classic 

race and sixth in the Sprint race. 

 

In the Junior Men's K1 our sole representative Luis Wilson 

finished 27th in the Classic and 27th in the Sprint.  Demi 

O'Brien and Genie Collin were our two Junior women 

representatives.  In the Classic race Demi finished 19th while 

Genie finished 22nd and in the Sprint Genie finished 17th 

and Demi finished 19th. 
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In the Under 23's Robert McIntyre finished 8th in the Sprint 

final while Tom Mountney finished 19th overall.  In the 

women’s our sole representative Maddie Batters finished 

11th in the Sprint final and also 11th in the Classic race. 

 

At this championship our Junior paddlers were able to 

combine with our Under 23 athletes to contest some of the 

teams racing.  In the Under 23 Men’s Robert McIntyre, Tom 

Mountney and Luis Wilson finished 8th in the team Sprint 

and 7th in the team Classic.  In the Under 23 female teams 

races Maddie Batters, Demi O'Brien and Genie Collin finished 

7th in the team Sprint and 7th in the team Classic. 

 

It was certainly great to have the interaction of a larger team 

and my thanks go out to the team athletes, management 

and supporters for the great team spirit that was exhibited 

on this tour. 

 

The future is bright for our discipline as we have a number 

of younger enthusiastic paddlers coming through the 

system.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We are holding a Junior development camp in the Snowy 

Mountains of NSW in the last week of September and the 

first few days of October, which is a great initiative to 

enhance the skills of our Junior paddlers. We also look 

forward to our next Australian Championships, which will 

again be held on the Mersey River in Tasmania at the 

beginning of January 2016. These races will also be selection 

events for next year's senior team that will be contesting 

both Classic and Sprint World Championships at Banja Luka 

in Bosnia Herzegovina in June 2016 followed by World Cups 

in Slovenia and France. 

 

In conclusion I would like to thank my fellow Committee 

members, Leigh Murphy and Matt Dalziel who provide 

continued input and support in the various tasks of the 

Committee and the sport overall as we continue to move it 

forward. 

 

Peter McIntyre 

Chair 

Australian Wildwater Technical Committee 
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Education and Safety Committee 

In October 2014, Mark Thurgood extended his position with 

the Australian Canoeing team to become the full time 

Community Participation Coordinator. 

By the end of June 2015, AC had a total of just over 2300 

Guides and Instructors spread around Australia and this 

number is continually growing. 

Over the past twelve months AC has continued to develop, 

grow and strengthen ACAS as the premier program in the 

country with a growing reputation. 

All Flatwater, Sea and Whitewater awards have been 

reviewed; new assessment records and evidence guides 

have been produced and are now live on the education 

website for National Training Providers. 

Four new awards have been developed and published: 

Enclosed Sea Guide, Enclosed Sea Instructor, Flatwater Skills 

SUP and Flatwater Instructor SUP.  

A Safety App is currently being developed. The focus of this 

app is for the safety of paddlers around Australia. The App 

will include information on what to do before going 

paddling, courses, instructors, paddle skills, rescues, 

weather, equipment and more.  

It is going to be a busy and exciting next twelve months as 

we look at how we can grow and service the recreation 

market through our education and safety products. 

Jason Dicker 

Chair 

Education and Safety Committee 
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Athlete and Coach Pathways 

In 2014 Australian Canoeing (AC) made a commitment to the 

support of long term athlete and coach development 

through the appointment of a National Pathway Manager. It 

is with great pleasure that I present the inaugural AC Athlete 

and Coach Pathway Report. 

Athlete and Coach Pathway Support 
Team 
I joined AC as National Pathway Manager in early 2014. This 

role serves to provide leadership and coordination of all 

aspects of AC’s national athlete and coach pathways. I work 

closely with the National Performance Director, National 

Performance Manager, National Team Coaching Staff, and 

Member Associations to ensure athletes and coaches are 

identified, developed and supported in line with AC’s 

Australia’s Winning Edge performance targets. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Over the past year, I have been supported by Peter Gargiulo 

and Glenn Pyne (employed by Canoe South Australia and 

Queensland Canoeing respectively) as Regional Pathway 

Coaches/Coordinators. Peter and Glenn play integral roles in 

the coordination and delivery of athlete and coach pathway 

initiatives in their local area. 

National Athlete and Coach Pathway 
Frameworks 
Following a considerable analysis and review of our current 

athlete and coach pathways, I have been busy documenting 

our National Athlete and Coach Pathway Frameworks (see 

Figures 1 and 2). These frameworks outline the typical stages 

of progression from initial involvement in canoeing to high 

performance sporting success and/or lifelong participation 

in paddling. Detailed Athlete and Coach Pathway Handbooks 

clearly describing the requirements, characteristics, 

opportunities, and expectations of athletes and coaches at 

each stage of the pathway are currently in preparation and 

are expected to be released next year. 

  

Figure 1: AC Coach Development Pathway 
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Figure 2: Paddle to the Podium Pathways Overview 
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Development Squads 

Canoe Slalom National Talent Squad 
Throughout the second half of 2014, Canoe Slalom National 

Talent Squad (NTS) athletes had the opportunity to attend 

three weekend NTS camps in Western Australia, Tasmania, 

and Victoria. These camps provide excellent opportunities 

for athletes to enhance their whitewater skills, gain an 

introduction to high performance behaviours, and build 

team camaraderie. 

 
Following the National Championships in January, a strong 

squad of twenty-four athletes was named for the 2015 NTS, 

with an additional nine athletes invited to attend selected 

NTS activities throughout the year. During the first half of 

2015, both Western Australia and Tasmania hosted well-

attended, successful NTS camps for these aspiring young 

athletes. 

Canoe Sprint State Development 
Squads 
2014/2015 saw a new initiative introduced to acknowledge, 

support, and monitor the development of prospective 

athletes demonstrating potential for future high 

performance success. 

 
Approximately 75 athletes across Australia were selected in 

six State Development Squads, with two coaches appointed 

to lead the squads in each state. Athletes participated in bi-

monthly mini-camps involving on-water time trials, strength 

and conditioning, and athlete development workshops on 

topics such as nutrition and psychology. 

Pathway Program Support 
To enhance the quality of the daily training environment for 

our Junior development athletes, direct financial support 

and in-kind provisions such as craft and performance advice 

were provided to twelve training centres actively 

contributing to the high performance pathway. Additional 

financial, craft and in-kind support was also provided 

through state Technical and Organising Committees to 

further enhance development for National Talent Squad and 

State Development Squad athletes. Pathway Program 

Funding serves to subsidise operational expenses such as 

coaching, training technologies, equipment purchase and 

maintenance, strength and conditioning services, and 

competition logistics. 

 

 

 
Canoe Slalom New Zealand 
Development Tour 
In December 2014, twelve young paddlers from Western 

Australia, Victoria, New South Wales and Tasmania 

embarked on a training camp to New Zealand’s North Island, 

under the experienced leadership of National Head Coach, 

Mike Druce.  
 
The first stop of the two-week tour was in Mangahao, a small 

village in the heart of the rainforest. The squad trained on 

the beautiful natural course alongside many local athletes, 

and the week concluded with a low-key race involving both 

developmental and Senior National Team athletes from both 

Australia and New Zealand. Tasmanian athlete Kate Eckhardt 

finished 3rd in the K1 behind Australian Alison Borrows and 

winner Luuka Jones of New Zealand. 

The team then travelled north to Rotorua, where they 

trained and competed at Kawerau on the Kaituna River. Here 

the Aussies raced well, with Kate Eckhardt taking out the K1 

and C1 events, and Tristan Carter placing first in the Men’s 

C1. Tristan was joined on the C1 podium by Nicholas Rankin 

in 3rd place. The Australian K1 women were particularly 

strong, with six athletes in the top ten after two runs. 

Surf Life Saving Australia Next Wave 
Partnership 
Following changes in investment from the Australian 

Institute of Sport toward the Next Wave Partnership, activity 

in this area was slightly limited during 2014/2015. Despite 

this, twenty-four new Nelo K1s were distributed to nine 

Junior development programs in recognition and support of 

their active promotion of the Surf to Kayak pathway and dual 

engagement in Canoeing and Surf Life Saving Activities. 

 

A Next Wave Paddling Clinic was also held at Lake 

Barrington, Tasmania in October, attracting over thirty 

participants interested in improving their paddling skills. The 

clinic was led by surf life saving and kayaking coaches Jimmy 

Walker and Mike Pond, with assistance from Next Wave 

Olympic Ambassador David Smith. 

An invigorated plan for The Next Wave is in place for 

2015/2016 to ensure continuation of this highly successful 

partnership with Surf Life Saving Australia. 
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Australian Institute of Sport (AIS) 
Sports Draft 
In 2014 Australian Canoeing was fortunate to be invited to 

participate in the AIS Sports Draft. The AIS Sports Draft is a 

talent identification program that provides support to 

targeted athletes to help them transition into a new sport 

and fast track their development. 

 

The program targets athletes over the age of sixteen who 

have been reasonably successful in another sport, but are 

looking for a new opportunity in a different sport. Following 

a rigorous selection process, a small number of athletes are 

"drafted" and receive an individualised support package 

from the AIS to assist them through the first twelve months 

of their involvement in their new sport. Coaches of Sports 

Draft athletes are also invited to participate in development 

opportunities relating to coaching talent transfer athletes. 

In the 2014 Sports Draft, four athletes were selected for 

Sprint kayaking and two were selected for women’s Sprint 

canoe. These athletes are currently training in five clubs 

around the country. Athletes were recruited from surf life 

saving, rowing, volleyball, and gymnastics. 

Due to the preliminary success of the AIS Sports Draft for 

Australian Canoeing, the AIS has invited us to participate 

again in 2015. 

Coach Certification 
Work began this year on the update of our coaching 

certification curricula and requirements for the Canoe Sprint 

and Slalom disciplines. The update will result in 

standardisation of the content and delivery of Foundation 

(former Level 1) and Development (former Level 2) coaching 

courses around the country and will ensure our coaches are 

sufficiently educated on the latest coaching theory and 

National Technical Model for skill development. Work in this 

area is planned to extend to the non-Olympic disciplines. 
 

 

 

 

 

AIS Centre for Performance 
Coaching and Leadership 

The AIS Centre for Performance Coaching and Leadership 

(CPCL) provides innovative professional development 

opportunities for coaches and performance leaders through 

a range of intensive and short course programs. The 

programs offered by the CPCL introduce coaches and staff to 

new ideas and approaches, and encourage original, creative, 

and holistic thinking to enhance athlete development and 

performance.  

 
In 2014/2015, thirteen Australian Canoeing coaches and 

staff participated in the development opportunities offered 

by the AIS. Anna Wood and Julien Billaut completed the 

Intensive Performance Coach Program, Jimmy Owens and 

Myriam Fox completed the Intensive Podium Coach 

Program, and Richard Fox completed the Intensive 

Performance Leaders Program. Following in their footsteps, 

Mike Druce commenced the one-year Podium Coach 

Program in 2015, accompanied by Andrea King, Anders 

Gustaffson and Krystoff Lepianka who commenced the two-

year Performance Coach Program. Christine Bain, Tim 

Jacobs, Andrew Hayden and I participated in several of the 

two-day short courses on offer, completing the Collaborative 

Leadership, Competition Readiness and Facilitation Skills 

workshops. The coaches and staff involved in the CPCL have 

found the programs to be highly engaging and beneficial for 

both themselves and their athletes. 

With a renewed focus on athlete and coach development, I 

am confident AC is making positive steps towards increasing 

the quality and quantity of athletes and coaches at all stages 

of the pathway from grassroots to high performance. I am 

excited by the possibilities that lie ahead, and I am looking 

forward to joining you as we progress through the paddle 

pathway together. 

Dr. Melissa Hopwood 

National Pathways Manager 

Australian Canoeing Ltd. 
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Derek Stevens receives Order of 

Australia Medal 

Derek Stevens was honoured in the Queen’s Birthday 

Honours list with the Medal of the Order of Australia in 

recognition of his contribution as a volunteer to the scouting 

movement and the sport of canoeing. Derek is an 

inspirational volunteer whose achievements have a forty 

year legacy that continues to this day. Many of Derek’s 

contributions to scouting and canoeing have been in South 

Australia and Australia. 

Derek commenced his volunteering ‘career’ in scouting in 

1972 with the Hope Valley Cub Pack (South Australia). He 

was appointed Project Commissioner – Canoeing (later 

Branch Commissioner) in 1987 and continued in the role 

until 2013.  His knowledge and commitment to canoeing in 

general has been instrumental in the scout canoeing 

programme. Through his efforts he has also raised the 

profile of scouting with regard to the external canoeing 

organisations in South Australia and nationally.  As a result 

the scout canoe training programmes in South Australia are 

well recognised for their integrity and extremely high 

standards by Canoe South Australia – Education and 

nationally by Australian Canoeing. 

In 2004, through Derek’s efforts over an extensive number 

of years, Scouts Australia (South Australia Branch) was 

approved by Australian Canoeing as a national training 

provider under the Australian Canoeing Award Scheme 

(ACAS).  Not only was this a first in Australia for scouts but it 

also meant that members of the scout movement in South 

Australia who successfully complete the canoe training 

programme are in a position to receive an industry 

accredited qualification recognised by the outdoor industry 

throughout Australia.    

This is a significant achievement, particularly when 

considered within the context of ‘value adding’ to scout 

training programmes. His involvement in both Scouts and 

high performance kayaking/canoeing has for the first time 

provided a conduit between these organisations that not 

only was founded by him but has also been maintained and 

fostered to this day. 

Derek’s credibility within the canoeing fraternity has without 

doubt impacted positively on scouts and the broader 

canoeing community.  His positive engaging nature has 

brought many to the sport and helped to develop safe 

participation in adventurous activities. 

 

By way of example: 

 1991-1998 Member of the of Canoe South 

Australia – Education Committee; 

 1993-1998 AC Marathon Delegate to Canoe South 

Australia ; 

 Conducted training and mentoring of officials in 

boat control for Sprint and Marathon national 

events; 

 A volunteer driver, transporting canoes and kayaks 

to events all over Australia, supporting the South 

Australian Sports Institute (SASI), high 

performance program and club athletes; 

 Taught canoe and kayak skills to hundreds of 

paddlers; 

 One of the small group of South Australians 

selected to act as an official for the Sydney 

Olympic Games – Canoe/Kayak Sprint events; 

 Life Membership of Canoe South Australia. 

 

His efforts over a very long period in providing/building 

canoes and training in general for scouting has been 

outstanding. 

Now retired, Mr. Stevens spends his time volunteering for 

Canoeing South Australia, doing anything from carting boats 

around to officiating a race on a weekend. 

Singling out highlights from his time on and around the 

water is not easy. 

Congratulations, Derek! 
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Financial Statements for the 

Year ended 30 June 2015 
The Directors present this report on the association for the 

financial year ended 30th June 2015 

Directors 
The names of the directors in office at any time during or 

since the end of the year are: 

 James Rennell  

 Danielle Woodward OAM 

 Martyn Clancy-Lowe 

 Robert Stewart (resigned 25 October 2014) 

 Andrea McQuitty 

 Claude Harran (appointed 21 July 2014) 

 Ken Wallace OAM 

 Anita Taylor (appointed 10 March 2015) 

 Ian Hume (appointed 25 October 2014) 

 
Directors have been in office since the start of the financial 

year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated. 

Significant Changes in State of Affairs 
There have been no significant changes in the state of the 

association's affairs during the financial year. 

Principal Activities 
The principal activities of the association during the course 

of the year were: the provision of national leadership and a 

national framework for harnessing the energies of the many 

canoeing people and organisations throughout Australia 

with the aim of building the business of canoeing for the 

benefit of all. 

There have been no significant changes in the nature of 

these activities during the year.  

After Balance Date Events 
No known matters or circumstances have arisen since the 

end of the financial year which significantly or may 

significantly affect the association's operations, the results 

of those operations or the state of affairs of the association 

in subsequent financial years.  

Future Developments 
The association expects to maintain the present status and 

level of operations and hence there are no likely known 

developments in future financial years. 

Key Personnel Remuneration 
The organisation has three Key Management Personnel who 

are compensated $454,282. There were no bonuses paid 

during the financial year. There were no related party 

payments during the financial year. 

Environmental Issues 
The association's operations are not regulated by any 

significant environmental regulation under a law of the 

Commonwealth or of a State or Territory. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Danielle Woodward OAM 

Director 

 

 
James Rennell 

Director 

 

Dated this 23rd day of October 2015. 
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 

For the Year ended 30 June 2015 
 
 
 
 
 Note 2015 2014 
 $ $ 
 
 Revenue 7,070,941 7,078,444 
 Interest Received 34,340 54,390 
 Administration Expenses (35,138) (40,989) 
 Occupancy Expenses (8,229) (7,478) 
 Other Expenses (7,017,963) (7,064,957) 
 
 Profit/(Loss) for Year 43,951 19,410 
 
 Other Comprehensive Income: 
 
 Other Comprehensive Income for year - - 
 
 Total Comprehensive Income for year 43,951 19,410 
 
 Profit/(Loss) attributable to members 43,951 19,410 
 
 Total Comprehensive Income attributable to members 43,951 19,410 
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Statement of Financial Position 

As at 30 June 2015 
 
 
 Note 2015 2014 
 $ $ 
 
 CURRENT ASSETS 
 Cash 3 1,523,725 1,435,717 
 Receivables 5 126,883 256,593 
 Other 6 10,995 1,280 
 TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,661,603 1,693,590 
 
 NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 Property, plant and equipment 7 21,370 731 
 TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 21,370 731 
 TOTAL ASSETS 1,682,973 1,694,321 
 
 CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 Payables 8 241,598 225,098 
 Provisions 9 211,030 225,932 
 Other Current Liabilities 10 843,986 914,403 
 TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,296,614 1,365,433 
 
  NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 Provisions 9 81,564 68,044 
 TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 81,564 68,044 
 
 TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,378,178 1,433,477 
 NET ASSETS 304,795 260,844 
 
 EQUITY 
 Retained profits 304,795 260,844 
 TOTAL EQUITY 304,795 260,844 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the Year ended 30 June 2015 
 
 Retained 
 Earnings 
 
 2015 
 Balance at 1 July 2014 260,844 
 Profit/(Loss) for year 43,951 
 Balance at 30 June 2015 304,795 
 
 
 
 2014 
 Balance at 1 July 2013 241,434 
 Profit/(Loss) for year 19,410 
 Balance at 30 June 2014 260,844 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

For the Year ended 30 June 2015 
 

 
 Note 2015 2014 
 $ $ 
 Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
 Receipts from Customers 7,160,648 7,084,671 
 Payments to Suppliers (7,106,980) (7,446,094) 
 Interest Received 34,340 54,390 
 Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities 4 88,008 (307,033) 
 
 Cash Outflows from Investing Activities 
 Loans repaid               
 
 Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash Held 88,008 (307,033) 
 
 Cash and Cash Equivalents as at 1 July 2014 1,435,717 1,742,750 
 
 Cash and Cash Equivalents as at 30 June 2015 1,523,725 1,435,717 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Year ended 30 June 2015 
 

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT       

     ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

Basis of Preparation 
Australian Canoeing Incorporated applies Australian 

Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements 

as set out in AASB 1053: Application of Tiers of Australian 

Accounting Standards and AASB 2010-2: Amendments to 

Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced 

Disclosure Requirements and other applicable Australian 

Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. 

The financial statements are general purpose financial 

statements that have been prepared in accordance with 

Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements 

of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and 

the Associations Incorporation Act 1991(ACT). The 

association is a not-for-profit entity for financial reporting 

purposes under Australian Accounting Standards. 

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies 

that the AASB has concluded would result in financial 

statements containing relevant and reliable information 

about transactions, events and conditions. Material 

accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the 

financial statements are presented below and have been 

consistently applied unless stated otherwise.  

The financial statements except for the cash flow 

information have been prepared on an accrual basis and are 

based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the 

measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, 

financial assets and financial liabilities. The amounts 

presented in the financial statements have been rounded to 

the nearest dollar. 

Accounting Policies 

(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits 

held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of three months or 

less, and bank overdrafts. 

 

 

(b) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the association has a legal 

or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for 

which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 

result and that outflow can be reliably measured. 

(c) Employee Benefits 

Short-term benefits 
Provision is made for the association’s obligation for short-

term employee benefits. Short-term employee benefits are 

benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected 

to be settled wholly within twelve months after the end of 

the annual reporting period in which the employees render 

the related service, including wages, salaries and sick leave. 

Short-term employee benefits are measured at the 

(undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the 

obligation is settled. 

 

The association’s obligations for short-term employee 

benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are 

recognised as a part of current trade and other payables in 

the statement of financial position.   

 

Other long term employee benefits 
The association classifies employees’ long service leave and 

annual leave entitlements as other long-term employee 

benefits as they are not expected to be settled wholly within 

twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period 

in which the employees render the related service. Provision 

is made for the association’s obligation for other long-term 

employee benefits, which are measured at the present value 

of the expected future payments to be made to employees. 

Expected future payments incorporate anticipated future 

wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee 

departures, and are discounted at rates determined by 

reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period 

on government bonds that have maturity dates that 

approximate the terms of the obligations. Upon the re-

measurement of obligations for other long-term employee 

benefits, the net change in the obligation is recognised in 

profit or loss classified under employee benefits expense. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Year ended 30 June 2015
 

The association’s obligations for long-term employee 

benefits are presented as non-current liabilities in its 

statement of financial position, except where the 

association does not have an unconditional right to defer 

settlement for at least twelve months after the end of the 

reporting period, in which case the obligations are presented 

as current liabilities. 

 

Retirement Benefit Obligations 

Defined Contribution Superannuation 

Benefits 
All employees of the association receive defined 

contribution superannuation entitlements, for which the 

association pays the fixed superannuation guarantee 

contribution (currently 9.5% of the employee’s average 

ordinary salary) to the employee’s superannuation fund of 

choice. All contributions in respect of employees’ defined 

contribution entitlements are recognised as an expense 

when they become payable. The association’s obligation 

with respect to employees’ defined contribution 

entitlements is limited to its obligation for any unpaid 

superannuation guarantee contributions at the end of the 

reporting period. All obligations for unpaid superannuation 

guarantee contributions are measured at the (undiscounted) 

amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled 

and are presented as current liabilities in the association’s 

statement of financial position. 

 

(d) Property, Plant and Equipment 
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost 

or fair value as indicated less, where applicable, any 

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

 

Plant and Equipment 
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less 

depreciation and impairment losses. The carrying amount of 

plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to 

ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable amount from 

these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the 

basis of the expected net cash flows that will be received  

from the assets’ employment and subsequent disposal. The  

 

 

 

expected net cash flows have been discounted to their 

present values in determining recoverable amounts. 

 

Depreciation 
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including 

buildings and capitalised lease assets, but excluding freehold 

land, is depreciated on a diminishing value basis over the 

asset’s useful life to the association commencing from the 

time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold 

improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the 

unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives 

of the improvements. 

 

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable 

assets are:  

 Office Equipment 33.33 % 

 Motor vehicles 30.00 % 

 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and 

adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. An 

asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its 

recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater 

than its estimated recoverable amount. 

 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 

proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains or losses are 

included in the income statement. When revalued assets are 

sold, amounts included in the revaluation reserve relating to 

that asset are transferred to retained earnings.  

 

(e) Income Tax 
No provision for income tax has been raised as the 

Association is exempt from income tax under Division 50 of 

the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 

 

(f) Trade and Other Receivables 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at the transaction 

price (i.e. cost) and are subsequently measured at cost less 

provision for impairment. Receivables expected to be 

collected within twelve months of the end of the reporting 

period are classified as current assets.  All other receivables 

are classified as non-current assets. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Year ended 30 June 2015

 
At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of 

trade and other receivables are reviewed to determine 

whether there is any objective evidence that the amounts 

are not recoverable. If so, an impairment loss is recognised 

immediately in statement of comprehensive income. 

 

(g) Leases 
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all 

the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged as 

expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. 

 

(h) Revenue and Other Income 
Non-reciprocal grant revenue is recognised in the statement 

of comprehensive income when the entity obtains control of 

the grant and it is probable that the economic benefits 

gained from the grant will flow to the entity and the amount 

of the grant can be measured reliably. 

 

If conditions are attached to the grant which must be 

satisfied before it is eligible to receive the contribution, the 

recognition of the grant as revenue will be deferred until 

those conditions are satisfied. 

 

When grant revenue is received whereby the entity incurs 

an obligation to deliver economic value directly back to the 

contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and 

the grant revenue is recognised in the statement of financial 

position as a liability until the service has been delivered to 

the contributor, otherwise the grant is recognised as income 

on receipt. 

 

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest 

rate method, which for floating rate financial assets is the 

rate inherent in the instrument. Revenue from the provision 

of membership subscriptions is recognised on a straight line 

basis over the financial year. 

 

(i) Trade and Other Payables 
Trade and other payables represent the liabilities at the end 

of the reporting period for goods and services received by 

the company that remain unpaid. Trade payables are 

recognised at their transaction price. Trade payables are 

obligations on the basis of normal credit terms. 

 

(j) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses, cashflows and assets are recognised 

net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 

incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation 

Office (ATO). Receivables and payables are stated inclusive 

of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount 

of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included 

with other receivables or payables in the statement of 

financial position. 

 

(k) Comparative Figures 
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative 

figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 

presentation for the current financial year. 

 

(l) Critical Accounting Estimates and 

Judgments 

 

Key Estimates - Impairment 
The association assesses impairment at each reporting date 

by evaluation of conditions and events specific to the 

association that may be indicative of impairment triggers. 

Recoverable amounts of relevant assets are reassessed using 

value-in-use calculations which incorporate various key 

assumptions. 

 

(m) Critical Accounting Estimates and 

Judgments 
The directors make estimates and judgements during the 

preparation of these financial statements regarding 

assumptions about current and future events affecting 

transactions and balances. These estimates and judgements 

are based on the best information available at the time of 

preparing the financial statements, however as additional 

information is known then the actual results may differ from 

the estimates. The significant estimates and judgements 

made have been described below. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Year ended 30 June 2015
 
Key Judgments - Provision for Impairment 

of Receivables 
The value of the provision for impairment of receivables is 

estimated by considering the ageing of receivables, 

communication with the debtors and prior history. An 

impairment charge of $1,700 has been recorded in the 

associations 30 June 2015 financial statements.  

 

Key Judgments – Employee Benefits 
For the purpose of measurement, AASB 119: Employee 

Benefits (September 2011) defines obligations for short-

term employee benefits as obligations expected to be 

settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the 

annual reporting period in which the employees render the 

related services. As the company expects that most 

employees will not use all of their annual leave entitlements 

in the same year in which they are earned or during the 

twelve-month period that follows (despite an informal 

company policy that requires annual leave to be used within 

eighteen months), the directors believe that obligations for 

annual leave entitlements satisfy the definition of other 

long-term employee benefits and, therefore, are required to 

be measured at the present value of the expected future 

payments to be made to employees. 

 

(n) Economic Dependence 
Australian Canoeing Inc. is dependent on the Australian 

Sports Commission and its members for the majority of its 

revenue used to operate the business. At the date of this 

report, the Board of Directors has no reason to believe the 

Australian Sports Commission or its members will not 

continue to support Australian Canoeing Inc. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Year ended 30 June 2015 
 

 2015 2014 
 $ $ 
 
 2. Profit for the Year 
 

Profit before income tax expense from continuing 
 operations include the following specific expenses: 
 
 Charging as Expense 
 
 Movements in Provisions 
 Depreciation 
 - Motor Vehicles 473 314 
  

Net Expenses Resulting from Movement in  
Provisions 

473
 

 314
 

 
 Bad & Doubtful Debts:- 
 - Bad debts written off - - 
 - - 
 
 Crediting as Income: 
 Grant Administration 5,731,389 5,416,974 
 Total Grant Revenue 5,731,389 5,416,974 
 
 State Affiliation Fees 171,418 177,768 
 Total Affiliation Revenue 171,418 177,768 
 
 
 3. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
 Cash at Bank 1,523,725 1,435,717 
 1,523,725 1,435,717 
 
 
 Reconciliation of Cash 
 

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement is reconciled to 
items in  
the balance sheet as follows: 

 
 Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,523,725 1,435,717 
 1,523,725 1,435,717 
 
 4. Cash Flow Information 
 
 Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations with Profit after Income Tax 
 
 Profit after Income Tax 43,951 19,410 
 
 Adjustments for Non-Cash Components in Profit: 
 
 Depreciation and Amortisation 2,151 314 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Year ended 30 June 2015 
 
 

 Changes in Assets and Liabilities 2015 2014 
 $ $ 
 (Increase)/Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables 129,710 108,619 
 (Increase)/Decrease in Other Assets (9,715) 158 
 (Increase)/Decrease in Non-Current Assets (22,790) - 
 Increase/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables 16,500 (8,408) 
 Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions (1,382) 219,244 
 Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities (70,417) (646,370) 
 
 Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 88,008 (307,033) 
 
 5. Trade and Other Receivables 
 
 Current 
 Accounts Receivable 126,800 256,590 
 Sundry Debtors 1,783 - 
 Less Provision for Doubtful Debts (1,700) - 
 126,883 256,590 
 
 Total Trade and Other Receivables 126,883 256,590 
 
 6. Other Assets 
 
 Current 
 Prepayments - Insurance - - 
 Prepayments - Other 10,995 1,280 
 10,995 1,280 
 
 Total Other Assets 10,995 1,280 
 
 7. Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
 Plant and Equipment 
 Motor Vehicles - at Cost - 20,000 
 Less Accumulated Depreciation - (19,677) 
 - 323 
 
 Office Equipment - at Cost 28,673 28,673 
 Less Accumulated Depreciation (28,673) (28,265) 
 - 408 
 
 Leasehold Improvements - at Cost 22,790 - 
 Less Amortisation (1,420) - 
                    21,370         -  
   
 Total Plant and Equipment 21,370 731 
 
 Total Property, Plant and Equipment 21,370 731 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Year ended 30 June 2015 
 
 

 2015 2014 
 $ $ 
 8. Trade and Other Payables 
 
 Current 
 Sundry Creditors 10,000 - 
 Trade Creditors 30,685 30,711 
 Superannuation Payable 75,534 72,595 
 PAYG Withholding Tax Payable 32,230 54,585 
 Provision for GST 93,149 67,207 
 241,598 225,098 
 
 Total Trade and Other Payables 241,598 225,098 
 
 
 9. Provisions 
 
 Current 
 Provision for Payroll Tax 18,877 60,535 
 Provision for FBT 2,379 2,359 
 Provision for Annual Leave 189,774 163,038 
 211,030 225,932 
 
 Non-Current 
 Provision for Long Service Leave 81,564 68,044 
  81,564 68,044 
  
 Total Provisions 292,594 293,976 
 
 10. Other Liabilities 
 
 Current 
 Accrued Audit Fees 14,000 12,000 
 Accrued Expenditure - 49,217 
 Funding for Events/Tours received in advance 76,959 148,502 
 Grant Funds Carried Over 688,735 508,744 
 Marathon Committee Carried Forward 17,500 27,548 
 Canoe Polo Committee Carried Forward 46,792 33,747 
 ANPHA Sponsorship - 134,645 
  843,986 914,403 
 
 
 11. Auditors Remuneration 
 

CBC Partners Chartered Accountants were 
the auditors of Australian Canoeing 
Incorporated 
for the 30 June 2015 financial year: 

 
 Auditor's Remuneration 15,500 12,000 
 15,500 12,000 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Year ended 30 June 2015
 
 

 

 

 12. Association Details 
 

The registered office of the association is: 
     Australian Canoeing Incorporated 
     2nd Floor, 6B Figtree Drive, Sydney Olympic Park, Homebush 2127 

 
The principal place of business is: 
     Australian Canoeing Incorporated 
     2nd Floor, 6B Figtree Drive, Sydney Olympic Park, Homebush 2127 
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Statement by Board of Directors

 
In the opinion of the directors the financial report:  
 

1.    Presents a true and fair view of the financial position of Australian Canoeing Inc. as at 30th June 2015 and its 
performance for the year ended on that date in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the requirements of the Associations Incorporation 
Act 1991 (ACT); and 

 
2.  At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that Australian Canoeing Inc. will be able to pay 

its debts as and when they fall due. This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board and is signed 
for and on behalf of the Board by: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Danielle Woodward OAM 

Director 

 

James Rennell 

Director 

 

Dated 23rd October 2015 
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AUSTRALIAN CANOEING INCORPORATED ABN 61 189 833 125  

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF AUSTRALIAN CANOEING INCORPORATED 

 
Report on the Financial Report 

 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Australian Canoeing Incorporated (the 

Association), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the 

statement of profit & loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity 

and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of 

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ 

statement. 

 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 

 
The directors of the association are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that 

gives a  true  and  fair  view  in  accordance  with  Australian Accounting  Standards  -  Reduced  

Disclosure Requirements and the Associations Incorporations Act 1991 (ACT) and for such 

internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 

financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
Auditor’s Responsibility 

 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require 

that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from 

material misstatement. 
 
 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 

internal control relevant to the association’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true 

and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 

control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 

the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the 

overall presentation of the financial report. 
 
 
 

GPO Box 1442  Sydney NSW  2001 
info@cbcpartners.com.au  • cbcpartners.com.au 

Level 11, 22 Market Street Sydney NSW  2000 
P: + 61 2 8263 1000 • F: + 61 2 9262 2911

 

CBC Partners, ABN 64 711 635 192

mailto:info@cbcpartners.com.au
mailto:info@cbcpartners.com.au
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cbcpartners 
 

 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our audit opinion. 
 

Auditor’s Opinion 
 

In our opinion, the financial report of Australian Canoeing Incorporated is in accordance with 

the Associations Incorporations Act 1991 (ACT), including: 
 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of 

its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii)         complying with Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements. 
 

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial report 
 

This auditor’s report relates to the financial report of Australian Canoeing Incorporated (the 

association) for the year ended 30 June 2015 included on Australian Canoeing Incorporated’s web 

site.   The   association’s   directors   are   responsible   for   the   integrity   of   Australian   Canoeing 

Incorporated’s web site. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of this web site. The 

auditor’s report refers only to the financial report named above. It does not provide an opinion on 

any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial report. If users of 

this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data communications they 

are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial report to confirm the information 

included in the audited financial report presented on this web site. 
 

 
 
 

CBC PARTNERS 

Chartered 

Accountants 
 

 
 

 
ROSS E. CHAPMAN FCA 

CTA Partner 
 

SYDNEY 
 

23rd October 2015 
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AUSTRALIAN CANOEING INCORPORATED ABN 61 189 833 125 
COMPILATION REPORT 

We have compiled the accompanying special purpose financial statement of Australian Canoeing 
Incorporated, which comprises the attached detailed profit and loss statement for the year ended 
30 June 2015. The specific purpose for which the special purpose financial statement has been  
prepared is to provide financial information to the directors. 
 

The responsibility of the directors 

The directors are solely responsible for the information contained in the special purpose financial 
statement and have determined that the basis of accounting adopted is appropriate to meet their 
needs. 
 

Our responsibility 

On the basis of the information provided by the directors we have compiled the accompanying 
special purpose financial statement in accordance with the basis of accounting and APES 315: 
Compilation of Financial Information. 
 

Our procedures use accounting expertise to collect, classify and summarise the financial 
information, which the directors provided, in compiling the financial statement. Our procedures do 
not include verification or validation procedures.  No audit or review has been performed on the 
information and accordingly no assurance is expressed. 
 

The special purpose financial statement was compiled exclusively for the benefit of the directors. 
We do not accept responsibility to any other person for the contents of the special purpose 
financial statement. 

 

CBC PARTNERS 

Chartered Accountants 

 

 

ROSS E. CHAPMAN FCA 

CTA Partner 

SYDNEY 
23rd October 2015 
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AUSTRALIAN CANOEING INCORPORATED 

 ABN 61 189 833 125 

 DETAILED PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT 

 For the Year ended 30 June 2015 
 
 
 2015 2014 
 $ $ 
 
 Revenue from Ordinary Activities 
 
 Operating Activities 
 Sports Income 87,019 113,581 
 Coaching Income - 2,100 
 Sponsorship Funds 151,801 238,472 
 Grant Administration 5,731,389 5,416,974 
 State Affiliation Fees 171,418 177,768 
 Education Programs 106,277 93,337 
 Others 33,873 72,810 
 Touring Teams 789,164 963,402 
 
 Non-operating Activities 
 Interest Income 34,340 54,390 
 
 Total Revenue from Ordinary Activities 7,105,281 7,132,834 
 
 Expenses from Ordinary Activities 
 
 AGM Expenses 24,918 18,942 
 Amortisation Expense 1,420 - 
 ANPHA Sponsorship Expenses 104,099 228,472 
 Auditor's Remuneration 15,500 12,000 
 Bad Debts Provision 1,700 - 
 Bank Charges 8,971 7,724 
 Depreciation 473 314 
 Coaching & Education Expenses 8,208 2,320 
 Event Expenses 172,156 122,251 
 General Expenses 4,097 8,169 
 High Performance Expenses 3,184,028 3,477,241 
 Insurance 49,321 51,581 
 IT Expenses 36,593 36,193 
 Legal Costs 36,283 28,429 
 Meeting Expenses 16,978 10,024 
 Membership Fees 774 796 
 Payroll Tax 72,699 58,829 
 Printing, Stationery & Postage 5,092 4,796 
 Rent 40,000 40,000 
 Salaries & Wages - Operations 504,229 427,848 
 Salaries & Wages - HP Staff 1,871,403 1,394,082 
 Fringe Benefits Tax 4,911 7,132 
 Provision for Long Service Leave 13,518 3,113 
 Provision for Annual Leave 52,987 156,919 
 Telecommunications Expenses 8,229 7,478 
 Travelling Expenses 46,982 29,259 
 Touring Team Expenses 746,441 950,305 
 Technical Committee Expenses 17,556 21,271 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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 AUSTRALIAN CANOEING INCORPORATED 

 ABN 61 189 833 125 

 DETAILED PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT 

 For the Year ended 30 June 2015 
 
 
 2015 2014 
 $ $ 
  
 Workers Compensation Expense 11,764 7,936 
 Total Expenses from Ordinary Activities 7,061,330 7,113,424 
 
 Profit before Income Tax 43,951 19,410 
 Income Tax Expense - - 
 
 Profit from Operations 43,951 19,410 
 
 Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year 260,844 241,434 
 
 Retained profits as at 30 June 2015 304,795 260,844 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Our Teams 
Canoe Sprint 

2015 Canoe Sprint Senior 

World Cups & World 

Championships 

Senior Team 

Bill Bain (QLD) 

Stephen Bird (WA) 

Daniel Bowker (WA) 

Alyssa Bull (QLD) 

Alyce Burnett (QLD) 

Jacob Clear (QLD) 

Callum Dunn (SA) 

Riley Fitzsimmons (NSW) 

Naomi Flood (NSW) 

Christian Florian SA) 

Brodie Holmes (WA) 

Jo Brigden-Jones (NSW) 

Sebastian Marczak (NSW) 

Catherine McArthur (SA) 

Alana Nicholls (WA) 

Jessie Phillips (WA) 

Jaime Roberts (WA) 

David Smith (NSW) 

Murray Stewart (NSW) 

Lachlan Tame (NSW) 

Bernadette Wallace (QLD) 

Ken Wallace (QLD) 

Jordon Wood (QLD) 

Paracanoe Team 

Sam Bloom (NSW) 

Brock Ingram (WA) 

Curtis McGrath (QLD) 

Amanda Reynolds (VIC) 

Susan Seipel (QLD) 

Colin Sieders (NSW) 

Melissa Sullivan (QLD) 

Team Management: 

Richard Fox 

Christine Bain 

Jimmy Owens 

Nathan Luce 

Mike Pond 

David Foureur 

Anna Wood 

Tim Jacobs 

Ramon Andersson 

Nicola Bullock 

David Aitken 

 

2015 Canoe Sprint Junior & 

U/23 World Championships 

Under 23 Team 

Bill Bain (QLD) 

Alyce Burnett (QLD) 

Alyssa Bull (QLD) 

Callum Dunn (SA) 

Jy Duffy (QLD) 

Riley Fitzsimmons (NSW) 

Rebecca Mann (VIC) 

Brianna Massie (QLD) 

Catherin McArthur (SA) 

Rob McIntyre (NSW) 

Joel McKitterick (QLD) 

Ben McLean (SA) 

Shannon Reynolds (WA) 

Jordan Wood (QLD) 

Junior Team 

Reece Bacchus (SA) 

Ruby Backen (SA) 

Jace Bayliss (SA) 

Ella Beere (NSW) 

Connor Buhk (QLD) 

Caitlin Burt-Polai (QLD) 

Keily Dober (NSW) 

Rachel Duncan (NSW) 

Charles Ellis (SA) 

Ben Harris (WA) 

Sam Hutchinson (NSW) 

Oliver James (VIC) 

Joshua Jones-Rew (QLD) 

Benjamin Keogh (SA) 

Francesca Kidd (SA) 

Luke Morton (WA) 

Yale Steinpreis (WA) 
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Team Management: 

Christine Bain 

Christine Duff 

Tim Jacobs 

Kristof Lepianka 

Mike Pond 

Anna Wood 

Coralie Barris 

2015 Olympic Hopes Team 

Alex Aves (NSW) 

Erin Blanch (QLD) 

Michael Bogatie (QLD) 

Sophie Butler (QLD) 

Noah Cameron (VIC) 

Monique Carbone (WA) 

Fletcher Cunningham (NSW) 

Toby Digney (WA) 

McKenzie Duffy (QLD) 

Liam Farrell (NSW) 

Isabella Gill (QLD) 

Kelsey Goldner (SA) 

Jonathon Gray (QLD) 

Tom Green (QLD) 

Jacob Hammond (NSW) 

Benjamin Manning (QLD)  

Marsha Makarushkina (SA) 

Ethan Neville (NSW) 

Siarn O’Neill (QLD) 

Asa Nowell (WA) 

Sophie Pope (SA) 

George Rugless (SA) 

Angus Schmidt (NSW) 

Matthew Simons (NSW) 

Shania Smee (WA) 

Hannah Tatlock (SA) 

Gabriel Tramaglino (SA) 

Chloe Travers (QLD) 

Hannah Yeates (NSW) 

Team Management: 

Christine Duff 

Kristof Lepianka 

Anna Wood 

Nick Bulmer 

 

Polo 
2014 Canoe Polo World 

Championships  

Senior Team 

Jay Burgess (VIC) 

Joshua Holmes (SA) 

Luke Holmes (SA) 

Stephen Hubbard (SA) 

Craig Hutchinson (NSW) 

Ian McIntosh (SA) 

Andrew Merrifield (VIC) 

Robert Sims (NSW) 

Team Management: 

Brett Houghton  

John Moore  

Matthew Moore 

Slalom 

2014 Canoe Slalom Senior  

World Championships 

Senior Team 

Jessica Fox (NSW)  

Rosalyn Lawrence (NSW)  

Sarah Grant (VIC)  

Alison Borrows (NSW)  

Lucien Delfour (NSW)  

Will Forsythe (NSW) 

Jaxon Merritt (VIC)  

Ian Borrows (NSW)  

Christian Fabris (VIC)  

Ethan Hodson (NSW)  

Robin Jeffery (WA)  

Team Management: 

Natasha Welsh 

Mike Druce 

Julian Billaut 

Myriam Fox 

Patrick Weston 

2015 Canoe Slalom Senior 

World Cups 

Senior Team 

Alison Borrows (NSW) 

Ian Borrows (NSW) 

Lucien Delfour (NSW) 

Jessica Fox (NSW) 

Ethan Hodson (NSW) 

Robin Jeffery (WA) 
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Rosalyn Lawrence (NSW) 

Kynan Mayley (WA) 

Jaxon Merritt (VIC) 

Daniel Watkins (TAS) 

Team Management: 

Julien Billaut 

Michael Druce 

David Dwyer 

Myriam Fox 

Patrick Weston 

2015 Canoe Slalom Junior & 

U/23 World Championships 

U23 Team 

Tim Anderson (VIC) 

Alison Borrows (NSW) 

Jessica Fox (NSW) 

Benjamin Pope (WA) 

Georgia Rankin (WA)  

Daniel Watkins (TAS) 

Junior Team 

Rohan Borojevic (TAS) 

Tristan Carter (VIC) 

Georgina Collin (WA) 

Kate Eckhardt (TAS) 

Kaspar Fiebig (NSW) 

Kristian Fiebig (NSW) 

Noemie Fox (NSW) 

Jake Hodkinson (TAS) 

Nick Rankin (WA) 

Angus Thompson (NSW) 

Demelza Wall (WA) 

Team Management: 

Debbie Crawford 

Michael Druce 

Peter Eckhardt 

Christian Fabris 

Myriam Fox 

 

Ocean Racing 

2015 Ocean Racing World 

Championships 

Senior Team 

Michael Booth (QLD) 

Kylie Braod (WA) 

Heidi Carlyle (NSW) 

Sam Norton (TAS) 

Wendy Rejntjes (VIC) 

Clint Robinson (QLD) 

Dane Sloss (QLD) 

Murray Stewart (NSW) 

Under 23 Team 

Jamie Brinkworth (NSW) 

Sam Djodan (NSW) 

Joey Hall (NSW) 

Mackenzie Hynard (NSW) 

Georgia Laird (TAS) 

Tom Norton (TAS) 

Danielle Polson (NSW)  

Mitchell Trim (NSW)  

Under 18 Team 

Fergus Morgan (WA) 

Chloe Sterry (QLD) 

2015 Ocean Racing World Cup 

Masters 

Neil Carlyle (NSW) 

Helen Chorley (QLD) 

Istvan Domokos (NSW) 

Tim Fitzsimmons (QLD) 

Tricia Gilbert (WA) 

Tim Hookins (NSW) 

Julie Jenkinson (WA) 

Robert Jenkinson (WA) 

Tony King (NSW) 

Michael McGrath (NSW) 

Mike Mills-Thom (NSW)  

Luke O’Garey (TAS) 

Shane Sterry (QLD) 

Paula Tocquer (NSW) 

Jim Walker (NSW) 

Team Management: 

Tim Hookins 

 

Freestyle 

2015 Freestyle World 

Championships 

Senior Team 

Joseph Dunn (NSW)  

Jez Jezz (NSW) 

Tim Lau (VIC) 

Dita Pahl (VIC) 
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Sue Robb (ACT) 

James Rowlinson (NSW) 

Joshua Singleton (WA) 

Mitch Taylor (NSW)  

Anthony Yap (VIC) 

2015 Junior Team 

Georgia Clarke (NSW) 

Gilbert Coombes (NSW) 

Liam Dowd (NSW) 

Rowan Kaar (NSW) 

Maddison Wilson (VIC) 

Team Management: 

Eileen Callaghan 

Tim Coombes  

Jez Jezz  

 

Wildwater 

2015 Wildwater Senior World 

Championships  

Senior Team 

Madeleine Batters (VIC) 

Alex McIntyre (NSW) 

Robert McIntyre (NSW) 

Tom Mountney (TAS) 

Kristy Packham (VIC) 

Dita Pahl (VIC) 

Team Management: 

Peter McIntyre  

Leigh Murphy 

 

2015 Wildwater Junior World 

Championships  

Junior Team 

Lachlan Bassett (VIC) 

Shayannah Beck (VIC) 

Georgina Collin (WA) 

Samuel Grant (VIC) 

Robert Janiszewski (VIC) 

Demi O'Brien (WA) 

Georgie Tonkin (VIC) 

Luis Wilson (TAS) 

Under 23 Team 

Madeleine Batters (VIC) 

Robert McIntyre (NSW) 

Tom Mountney (TAS) 

Team Management: 

Cindy Davis 

Alex McIntyre 

Peter McIntyre  

Nic Wilson 

 

Marathon 

2014 Marathon World 

Championships  

Senior Team 

Luke Haniford (SA) 

Michael Leverett (VIC) 

Kate Leverett (McGrath) (VIC) 

Rain Metsoja (QLD) 

Brea Roadley (VIC) 

Glenn Rypp (SA) 

Tess Watson (WA) 

Under 23 Team 

Marlena Ahrens (VIC) 

Logan Dutton (VIC) 

Casey Haynes (VIC) 

Penny Young (VIC) 

Junior Team 

Oliver James (VIC) 

Edward Lovick (VIC) 

Alexander Neilson (VIC) 

Ben Rake (NSW) 

Kayla Whinray (VIC) 

2014 Marathon World Cup 

Masters Team  

Margi Bohm (ACT) 

Dianne Chellew (NSW) 

Pauline Finley (NSW) 

Brett Greenwood (NSW) 

Geoffrey Horsnell (VIC) 

Mark Lawson (WA) 

Darren Lee (NSW) 

Lyle Mead (NSW) 

Elizabeth Pratt (NSW) 

Team Management: 

Lynwen Birch (QLD) 

Robert Walker (NSW) 

2015 Emerging National Team 

Brigitte Blood (VIC) 

Logan Dutton (VIC) 



 

 

80 

Bronwyn Martin (WA) 

Brea Roadley (VIC) 

Team Management: 

Lynwen Birch (QLD) 

Margi Bohm (ACT) 



 

  

Annexure A – The Pillars of the Australian Canoeing Strategic Pla



 

 

Annexure B – Australian Sports Commission 
Mandatory Sports Governance Principles 

Australian Canoeing Assessed Status (as at 30th October 2015) 
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